          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES

          8  And ELECTIONS

          9

             -------------------------------x

         10

         11                 January 18, 2006

                            Start:  12:05 p.m.

         12                 Recess: 3:35 p.m.

         13                 City Hall

                            Committee Room

         14                 New York, New York

         15

                  B E F O R E:

         16

                         LEROY COMRIE

         17                                Chairperson,

         18

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Joel Rivera

         19                                 Diana Reyna

                                            Maria Baez

         20                                 Bill DeBlasio

                                            Lewis Fidler

         21                                 Melinda Katz

                                            Michael McMahon

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             COUNCIL MEMBERS:

          4

          5  David Weprin

             Inez Dickens

          6  Daniel Garodnick

             James Oddo

          7  Domenic Recchia

             Gale Brewer

          8  Robert Jackson

             Jessica Lappin

          9  Rosie Mendez

             Simcha Felder

         10  Dennis Gallagher

             Yvette Clarke

         11  Tony Avella

             David Yassky

         12  Letitia James

             Sara Gonzalez

         13  Miguel Martinez

             Oliver Koppell

         14  Melissa Mark Viverito

             Darlene Mealy

         15  Alan Gerson

             Erik Dilan

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Kate Woods

          4  Executive Director

             Landmarks West

          5  New York City, NY

          6  Whitney North Seymour, Jr.

             425 Lexington Avenue

          7  New York City, NY

          8  Robert Furman

             Four Borough Preservation Alliance

          9  Brooklyn, NY

         10  Laura Ludwig

             Women's City Club

         11  New York City, NY

         12  Christabel Gough

             Society for the Architecture of the City

         13  New York City, NY

         14  Cathy Wassylenko

             New York Preservation Alliance

         15  Brooklyn, NY

         16  Roger Lang

             New York Landmarks Conservancy

         17

             Hilary Kitasei

         18  Chair

             Henry Hudson Parkway Task Force

         19

             Olive Freud

         20  Committee for Environmentally Sound Development

         21  Teri Slater

             119 East 78th Street

         22  New York City, NY

         23  Michael Henry Adams

             501 West 38th Street

         24  New York City, NY

         25

                                                            4

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Elizabeth Ryan

          4  Commissioner

             Landmarks Preservation Commission

          5  New York City, NY

          6  Robert Tierney

             Chair

          7  Landmarks Preservation Commission

             New York City, NY

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            5
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good afternoon

          3  everyone.  My name is Leroy Comrie.  I'd like to

          4  welcome you to today's hearing on the Committee on

          5  Rules, Privileges, and Elections.

          6                 Let me introduce the other Council

          7  Members who are there.  Some who are on the

          8  Committee and some who are here because they are

          9  interested.  We'll start with Councilman Tony

         10  Avello, from Queens; Councilman Yvette Clarke, from

         11  Brooklyn; Councilman Michael McMahon, from Staten

         12  Island; Councilman Dennis Gallagher, from Queens;

         13  Councilman Melinda Katz, from Queens; Council Member

         14  Maria Baez, from the Bronx; Council Member Joel

         15  Rivera, from the Bronx as well; newly elected

         16  Council Member Daniel Garodnick, from Manhattan;

         17  that I got, yes, really.  And Council Member Simcha

         18  Felder, from Brooklyn.

         19                 Today we have a full meeting

         20  calendar.  First, there are two candidates being

         21  considered for reappointment to the Landmarks

         22  Preservation Commission.  Then we will discuss and

         23  vote on new Chairpersons and members of the

         24  Committee to the Council, the allowances of

         25  Chairpersons and officers of the Council, and the
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          2  creation of new committees of the Council.  Not

          3  necessarily in that order.

          4                 The candidates before us today are

          5  Robert Brian Tierney, a resident of Manhattan.

          6  Should Mr. Tierney receive the advice and consent of

          7  the Council, he will be eligible to serve the

          8  remainder of a three-year term that expires on June

          9  28, 2007.  Mr. Tierney currently serves as chair of

         10  the Landmarks Commission.

         11                 And Elizabeth Ryan, a resident of

         12  Brooklyn.  Should Ms. Ryan receive the advice and

         13  consent of the Council, she will be eligible to

         14  serve the remainder of a three- year term that

         15  expires on June 28, 2008.

         16                 Also just so you do know, but some of

         17  us don't, the New York City Landmarks Preservation

         18  Commission, which consists of 11 members, is

         19  responsible for establishing and regulating

         20  landmarks, portions of landmarks, landmark sites,

         21  interior landmarks, scenic landmarks, and historic

         22  districts.  Also, the Commission regulates

         23  alterations to designated buildings.  The Charter

         24  requires that the Commission's membership include at

         25  least three architects, one historian qualified in
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          2  the field, one City Planner or landscape architect,

          3  and one realtor.  By statute, the Commission's

          4  membership must have at least one resident from each

          5  of the five boroughs.  The Mayor appoints members of

          6  the Commission for staggered three- year terms.

          7  Each member continues to serve as a Commissioner

          8  until his or her successor is appointed and

          9  qualified.

         10                 The Mayor designates one of the

         11  members to serve as Chair of the Commission, and

         12  another to serve as Vice Chair.  Both of these

         13  appointees serve until a successor is designated.

         14                 Members other than the Chair serve

         15  without compensation, but are reimbursed for

         16  expenses necessarily incurred in the performance of

         17  their duties.  The Chair's salary is currently

         18  $157,421.  The Commission appoints a full- time

         19  Executive Director.  The Commission may employ

         20  technical experts and such other employees as may be

         21  required to perform its duties.

         22                 The Commission is required to provide

         23  opportunities for comment in advance of any hearing

         24  on a proposed designation of a landmark, landmark

         25  site, interior landmark, scenic landmark, or
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          2  historic district.  In addition to the designation

          3  of a landmark, the Commission may, at any time, make

          4  recommendations to the City Planning Commission

          5  regarding amendments to zoning resolution

          6  provisions, applicable to improvements in historic

          7  districts.

          8                 Moreover, the Commission is

          9  responsible for determining whether a proposed

         10  alteration or demolition affecting a landmark is

         11  consistent with the landmark's preservation and

         12  historic district's chapter of the Administrative

         13  Code.  In instances where the Commission determines

         14  that the proposed change complies with the Code, it

         15  may grant a Certificate of Appropriateness.

         16  Otherwise, the Commission may deny the applicant's

         17  request.

         18                 Actually, before we hear from today's

         19  candidates, I understand that they have many persons

         20  wishing to offer testimony regarding Ms. Ryan, Mr.

         21  Tierney and the Commission itself.  What I'd like to

         22  do is swear you both in.  If you could raise your

         23  right hand, to be sworn in.  And our capable and

         24  amiable Counsel, Mr. Ed O'Malley will swear you in

         25  at this time.
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          2                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

          3  and affirm the testimony you are about to give the

          4  Committee is the truth and the whole truth?  Please

          5  state your names for the record.

          6                 MR. TIERNEY: Bob Tierney.

          7                 MS. RYAN: Elizabeth Ryan.

          8                 MR. O'MALLEY: Both candidates are

          9  sworn in.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  Thank you.

         11

         12                 We've been joined by Minority Leader

         13  James Oddo, from Staten Island.  And we do have many

         14  people that would like to testify.  So, Ms. Ryan and

         15  Mr. Tierney, in order to expedite the hearing, I'd

         16  like them to testify first, if you don't mind.

         17                 I should have made them make

         18  accommodations for you to have a seat up front.  But

         19  what we can do is  -- yes, we did let them know that

         20  some people were going to testify.  So if you don't

         21  mind sitting in those two chairs for the moment.

         22                 And if we could have Kate Wood, from

         23  Landmark West; Whitney Seymour, Jr., and Robert

         24  Furman come forward.  You're going to have two

         25  minutes each.  Can we reset the clock for two
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          2  minutes, Sergeant- at- Arms, so that they can

          3  testify for two minutes each?

          4                 I called Robert Furman, Kate Wood,

          5  and Whitney Seymour Jr.  That's two minutes each.

          6  Two minutes each for testimony.  And reset the clock

          7  so we could start quickly.

          8                 Which ever would like to go first,

          9  Ma'am.

         10                 MS. WOOD: Good afternoon.  I'm Kate

         11  Wood, speaking on behalf of Landmark West.  Thank

         12  you all very much for this opportunity to testify

         13  today.  And thank you also to my preservation

         14  colleagues, who are here with the caring, courage,

         15  and conviction to speak about the reappointment of

         16  these two candidates.

         17                 Landmark West is actually here today

         18  to speak on behalf of the many preservation groups

         19  who will not speak their minds at this hearing,

         20  because they believe that the reappointment of

         21  Landmarks Preservation Commission Chair, Robert B.

         22  Tierney is preordained.  And that outspokenness

         23  could negatively affect their future advocacy

         24  success.

         25                 Landmark West wants to believe that
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          2  the Council will take its advice and consent role

          3  seriously.  And in any event, believes that unless

          4  the facts are spoken, we will have no one to blame

          5  but ourselves for another four years of ineffectual

          6  leadership at the LPC.

          7                 Here are the fact.  One.  In three

          8  successive annual budget hearings since his

          9  appointment in 2003, Chair Tierney has not once

         10  asked this Council to grant his agency a larger

         11  budget. Despite widespread consensus that inadequate

         12  funding and staff prevents the LPC from doing its

         13  job effectively.

         14                 Two.  At the same time, Chair Tierney

         15  increased the burden on property owners by

         16  instituting permit fees, something that the LPC and

         17  members of the preservation community have staved

         18  off for decades, since it undermines public support

         19  for designations.

         20                 Three.  In Fiscal Year 2005, the LPC

         21  made only 16 designations.  A total of 46 buildings,

         22  marking this period as a low point in the LPC's 40-

         23  year history.  Furthermore, the LPC has failed to

         24  make the case for three landmark designations

         25  recently overturned by this Council.
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          2                 Four.  Over the past 18 months, the

          3  Council scheduled an unprecedented 3 oversight

          4  hearings to investigate the LPC.  I have just a

          5  couple more sentences to wrap up.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  If you can

          7  just wrap up, because we have like 10- 15 people

          8  that want to testify.

          9                 MS. RYAN: Okay.  Absolutely.  And

         10  also, attached to the testimony that the Sergeant-

         11  at- Arms distributed, you'll see a list of over 50

         12  organizations that signed on to a bill that was

         13  introduced last year, the Landmark Hearing Bill,

         14  that was drafted in response to the LPC's failure to

         15  conduct public hearings on worthy, often threatened

         16  sites throughout the City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         18                 MS. RYAN: So now's the time to ask

         19  ourselves  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, Ms. --

         21                 MS. RYAN: If it's the best we can

         22  expect of our LPC and its leadership.  We believe

         23  the facts speak for themselves. Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.  Mr.

         25  Seymour.
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          2                 If the light is off, then the mike is

          3  on.

          4                 MR. SEYMOUR:  My name is Whitney

          5  North Seymour Jr. I'm a former New York State

          6  Senator.  I served as President of the Municipal

          7  Arts Society in the 1960s, when it aggressively

          8  pursued the enactment of a New York City Landmarks

          9  Law.  I live in Greenwich Village, in the first

         10  historic district designated by the Landmark

         11  Commission.  I'm a former member of the Board of

         12  Governor's of the General Society of Mechanics and

         13  Tradesmen, whose members built this building, and

         14  designed it.  We've been in the landmark business

         15  for a couple of hundred years.

         16                 I've been doing some special pro bono

         17  legal work for Landmark West.  And in the course of

         18  that, I've discovered that this Commission is

         19  operating unlawfully, in terms of receiving and

         20  processing requests from citizens and community

         21  groups, to have the Commission itself, not the

         22  staff, not the Chairman, but the Commission itself

         23  take a look at proposed landmark buildings.  That is

         24  an issue that needs to be addressed by this Council.

         25    This isn't --  two minutes is no time to present
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          2  it.

          3                 But I want to say to the members of

          4  this Council, individually, I know that courtesy

          5  requires that you confirm the Mayor's nominations

          6  here.  But I tell you, your negative vote, even in

          7  the minority, carries a tremendously important

          8  message.  And if you can make sure that the vote for

          9  this man is not unanimous, you will get his

         10  attention to try to figure out what he should be

         11  doing to make this Commission more responsive to the

         12  communities of this City, so that the heritage of

         13  this City is preserved, and not destroyed because of

         14  political pressure and lobbying, which right now

         15  rules the day at the Landmarks Commission.  Thank

         16  you very much for your attention.  Thank you also

         17  for serving the City of New York.  Do it the right

         18  way.  And some of you who have got the courage, vote

         19   "No" on this advice and consent.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Furman.

         21                 MR. FURMAN: Hi.  Mr. Chairman,

         22  Members of the Council, Mr. Tierney, and Ms. Ryan.

         23  My name is Robert Furman.  I'm the Chairman of the

         24  Four Borough Preservation Alliance, which was begun

         25  last year, to give a voice to the outer boroughs in
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          2  over development and preservation issues.

          3                 The Four Borough Neighbored

          4  Preservation Alliance applauds Chairman Tierney's

          5  work over the past four years as Chairman of the

          6  Landmarks Preservation Commission, and supports his

          7  confirmation for a second term.

          8                 He has led, in a courageous and

          9  exemplary manner, unafraid of challenges and

         10  disagreements, and has not been discouraged by the

         11  occasional reversal.

         12                 We hope that in his second term, the

         13  Commission's work will be more strongly supported by

         14  the Mayor in the form of staff adequate to

         15  performance mission to protect our heritage, and to

         16  allow it to make more than the 16 designations

         17  scheduled in the Mayor's Management Report.

         18                 We further hope that such staffing

         19  will allow the Commission to pay more attention to

         20  outer borough, suburban style neighborhood landmarks

         21  in Queens, Staten Island, and Southern Brooklyn,

         22  which have been neglected over the years.  Such

         23  Queens neighborhoods as Sunnyside Gardens, Richmond

         24  Hill, Kew Gardens, and Wall Pond, are long overdue

         25  for designation, and it is expected that the
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          2  Commission will be able to get to them on its long

          3   "to- do" list.  In addition, a list of individual

          4  designations and districts in Staten Island should

          5  be carefully examined.

          6                 We call on the Commission to make its

          7  processes more open, and the rationale for its

          8  decisions clear.  The Survey Department should be

          9  reestablished, to make the process proactive. And

         10  the Commission's Designation Committee should also

         11  begin to function again.  In a positive way.

         12                 Written standards and regulations to

         13  help communities understand the Commission's

         14  decision parameters should be adopted and utilized.

         15  A long back log of items heard but not designated

         16  still exist, many of which never even received even

         17  a response indicating a refusal.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you have a

         19  copy of your testimony?

         20                 MR. FURMAN: Yes.  It's in your

         21  packet.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  If you

         23  could submit it then, because you  --  I'm sorry,

         24  we're compressed for time.  And time is always

         25  against us, but we appreciate your coming,
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          2  Mr.Furman.

          3                 We've been joined by many other

          4  Council Members. Councilman Domenic Recchia, from

          5  Brooklyn; Council Member Inez Dickens, from

          6  Manhattan; Councilman Lew Fidler, from Brooklyn;

          7  Council Member Diana Reyna, from Brooklyn; Council

          8  Member, new Council Member Jessica Lappin, from

          9  Manhattan; Council Member Gale Brewer, from

         10  Manhattan; Council Member David Weprin, from Queens;

         11  Council Member Robert Jackson, from Manhattan; and

         12  Council Member Tish James, from Brooklyn.

         13                 Council Member McMahon, you had a

         14  question?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you Mr.

         16  Chairman.  I know time is pressing, so I'll be

         17  quick.

         18                 Ms. Wood, can you tell me any other

         19  Commissioners, or Commission Chairs who, over the

         20  last four years, have come to the Council and asked

         21  for increases in their budget, more than what the

         22  Mayor has given them?  I know you've criticized

         23  Chairman Tierney for that, but I'm on the Finance

         24  Committee.  I know of no other Commissioner, no

         25  other Chairs who have asked this Council directly
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          2  for more money than what the Mayor has allotted

          3  them, because it would be, if you will, in conflict

          4  with what the Mayor's budget message says.  Are

          5  there any others who have done that?

          6                 MS. WOOD: Not to my knowledge.  But

          7  the Landmarks Commission is one of the most, if not

          8  the most under funded agencies  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER  MCMAHON: That's not

         10  my question.  We could, I could sit here and argue

         11  with you as a Chair of Sanitation that they are very

         12  under funded to keep the City clean.  The

         13  Commissioner of Sanitation comes and, and as someone

         14  who is appointed by the Mayor, and works for the

         15  Mayor, has to deal with the budget presented.  So I

         16  think the criticism that the Chair hasn't asked for

         17  more money must ring hollow, unless other

         18  Commissioners or Chairs have done that.  Do you know

         19  of any others who have done that?

         20                 MS. WOOD: No. I don't.  But the point

         21  was that the Commission is under funded, and needs

         22  more money, and the Chair is in a leadership

         23  position to ask for that money.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: As are we in

         25  the Council, and in some instances, we've put more
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          2  money in budgets, and that's something we should do

          3  in Landmarks as well.  We share the blame. And just

          4  to you, Senator, because you indicated that you were

          5  someone responsible for the law that created the

          6  Commission.  Why was the Commission given so little

          7  power?  Why aren't the other Commissioners paid?

          8  Why isn't there a creation, or more power?  This is

          9  such an important charge they have, but if you look

         10  at the law that created them, they're really more of

         11  an advisory role in any way.  And we want them to be

         12  as active and proactive as the City Planning

         13  Commission, perhaps, and even more so.  But they

         14  don't have the power to do that.  Isn't the law  --

         15  doesn't that law have to be revisited as well?  Do

         16  you really think that the law is written to give

         17  them the power today?

         18                 MR. SEYMOUR: I think you probably

         19  have not had enough experience in working with

         20  independent bodies.  I served as Vice President of

         21  the Art Commission.  As did my father and my father-

         22  in- law.  It's an entirely voluntary body, but it

         23  protects the City of New York because it is

         24  volunteer.  It's not answerable to the Mayor.  The

         25  Mayor can't call up an unpaid volunteer member and
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          2  raise hell with them because he's got a contributor

          3  saying, Mayor, I've contributed to your campaign, I

          4  want to knock down that landmark.  You make the

          5  Landmark Commission heal.  But they can do that now,

          6  with this Chairman.  And that's what's wrong with

          7  this Commission.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Well, the

          9  enabling legislation is a problem as well, sir, and

         10  I think then, we all have to know where the blame

         11  lies for that.  But let me just tell you, in the

         12  experience of Staten Island, maybe more of it where

         13  people have to work, and don't have time to spend

         14  their day doing volunteer work all day long, it's

         15  even difficult to find people who can serve on the

         16  Commission, as just a Commissioner, because they

         17  don't have the independent wealth or the ability to

         18  do that.

         19                 MR. SEYMOUR: I'll suggest some

         20  nominees to you, Councilman.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: I appreciate

         22  that.  We'll talk about that.  Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Oddo.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Just a comment

          3  on Council Member McMahon's point.  I think it was a

          4  good point.  Not only that, we actually had one head

          5  of an agency, if you recall, two years ago, say "no"

          6  to our request to give her more money.  So your

          7  point is well taken.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  We're

          9  going to move on. Thank you for testifying.  The

         10  next three people, Laura Ludwig, Christabel Gough,

         11  and if I'm pronouncing your name wrong, I'm sorry,

         12  Cathy Wassylenko.

         13                 If you're here to  --  if you have

         14  testimony to present to us, we'd like to get a copy

         15  of it.  If not, you have two minutes.  And let's try

         16  not to be repetitive, and let's try to be positive

         17  and focused about our testimony.

         18                 MS. LUDWIG: Okay.  My name is Laura

         19  Ludwig.  I'm Co Chair of the Arts and Landmarks

         20  Committee of the Women's City Club of New York,

         21  which is a 90- year old nonprofit, nonpartisan

         22  organization that shapes public policy through

         23  education, advocacy, and citizen participation.

         24                 The Women's City Club of New York

         25  takes this opportunity to urge the Council to ensure
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          2  that the Chair and Commissioners of the Landmarks

          3  Preservation Commission take steps to implement the

          4  recommendations made by preservation organizations

          5  throughout New York City.  In 2004, the Women's City

          6  Club coordinated a report entitled, "Problems

          7  Experienced by Community Groups Working with the

          8  Landmarks Preservation Commission".  You have copies

          9  of that report today.

         10                 At the end of 2005, 60 preservation

         11  organizations throughout the five boroughs had

         12  signed on to that report.  And many of their

         13  representatives have testified at three City Council

         14  hearings held to examine the administrative

         15  procedures of the LPC. To date, most of the problems

         16  raised in that report and at those hearings have yet

         17  to be properly addressed.  For example, lack of

         18  transparency in the designation process, and

         19  responsiveness to applicants.  As well as the need

         20  for a change in attitude that will restore the

         21  cooperative and mutually supportive relationship

         22  that the LPC had years ago with organizations and

         23  individuals working to preserve the architectural

         24  and cultural heritage of our City.

         25                 Among the solutions offered, the
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          2  report recommended that public hearings should be

          3  held on a continuing basis to gather public comment

          4  in regard to the designation and regulatory

          5  functions of the LPC.

          6                 The Women's City Club urges the

          7  Council, in its oversight capacity, to ensure that

          8  such hearings are calendared, and to encourage the

          9  Chairman of the LPC to address the problems detailed

         10  in the report, thereby helping to improve the way in

         11  which the Landmarks Preservation Commission fulfills

         12  its mandates.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next person.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 MS. GOUGH: Christabel Gough, for the

         16  Society for the Architecture of the City.  We are a

         17  small oval and tier in historic preservation

         18  advocacy group, based in Greenwich Village.

         19                 We have been monitoring the

         20  proceedings of the Landmarks Preservation Commission

         21  on a regular basis since the early 1980s.  During

         22  the tenure of Chairs Norman, Todd, Beckleman, Rabb,

         23  Paulson, and Tierney.  Although we are critical of

         24  many policies and decisions of the Landmarks

         25  Commission, as we testified at the City Council
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          2  oversight hearings last year, and although we served

          3  as a participating group in drafting the Women's

          4  City Club report, which you've just heard about, our

          5  aim there was to accomplish policy reforms.  In our

          6  view, all of the policies we criticized were

          7  established, and in effect, before Robert Tierney

          8  was appointed to the Landmarks Commission in

          9  December of 2002. Most date from the Giuliani

         10  Administration.  While others, like starving the

         11  agency of funds, are an expression of the overall

         12  land use priorities of Mayor Bloomberg.

         13                 While in office, Mr. Tierney has

         14  discontinued the abusive use of the interior

         15  internal landmark designation committee, a number

         16  one demand of the Women's City Club report. And he

         17  has accomplished some difficult designations such as

         18  the rare and important Federal House at 67 Greenwich

         19  Street, which the LPC has been trying to protect

         20  since it was first heard in 1965. Only last week,

         21  despite a critical budget- induced shortage of

         22  staff, the LPC managed to designate a 257- building

         23  historic district in the Bronx.

         24                 On the regulatory side, hearings have

         25  become more civil, open, and democratic.  And some
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          2  difficult decisions have been negotiated that at

          3  least, uphold basic tenets of the law, such as the

          4  Whitney Museum compromise.

          5                 Based on our first- hand observation,

          6  we support Robert Tierney.  We recommend his

          7  appointment.  We believe he is eligible to serve.

          8  And we also strongly support Commissioner Elizabeth

          9  Ryan, who has served with distinction.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         11                 MS. WASSYLENKO: My name is Cathy

         12  Wassylenko.  I'm with the New York Preservation

         13  Alliance, based in Brooklyn.

         14                 Our City is being destroyed, not by

         15  hurricanes or war, or natural disasters, but by

         16  callous, greedy, and thoroughly corrupt so- called

         17  developers.  The truth is, they are not developers,

         18  but destroyers of all that has made this City

         19  unique, fascinating, creative, and humane.

         20                 One reprieve from the wrecking ball

         21  has been landmarks designation.  Commissioner Robert

         22  Tierney, while having inherited most of the ills

         23  that plague the Landmarks Commission, has done

         24  little to improve or to revisit the laws and

         25  procedures that are allowing a major portion of our
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          2  historic architecture to remain unprotected.

          3                 The Demolition Delay Bill, which

          4  would require landmarks evaluation of all buildings

          5  50- years or older, was not introduced by the LPC,

          6  but by the historic district's council, and still

          7  has not been passed.  Designation should be

          8  proactive, and from the top down, not a political

          9  football, left to individual communities and Council

         10  districts.  The law should mandate that the LPC

         11  actively identify historic properties and districts,

         12  and designate them accordingly.  It follows that the

         13  Commission is woefully understaffed, and under

         14  funded, a situation that Commissioner has also not

         15  addressed.

         16                 As for already designated buildings,

         17  the Commission needs a large increase in qualified

         18  manpower to properly assess applications for facade

         19  work, such as radical removal of brownstone or

         20  window replacement, where a more conservative

         21  solution should be explored.  Follow- up inspections

         22  of ongoing work must occur to assure compliance.

         23                 There needs to be a revision of the

         24  practice of approval of synthetic materials on

         25  historic buildings.  Materials should be matched as
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          2  closely as possible with originals, because unlike

          3  synthetics, they look, feel, and age in harmony with

          4  the original structure.  Otherwise, we might as well

          5  be creating Las Vegas, or Disney World.

          6                 The Commission should also reject the

          7  bizarre concept of allowing modern design in

          8  historic districts.

          9                 I'm going to cut it short.  In

         10  conclusion, we hope that Commissioner Tierney will

         11  take on a more robust role in protecting our

         12  historic City by addressing these and many other

         13  issues in a aggressive and timely manner.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.  Do

         15  you have any written testimony?  If you could hand

         16  it to the Sergeant, so that we could make copies of

         17  it to keep it in the record.  Thank you very much.

         18                 On our next panel, it will be Roger

         19  Lang, Olive Freud, and Hilary Kitasei.  Whoever

         20  would like to go first.

         21                 MR. LANG: Good afternoon.  I'm Roger

         22  Lang, speaking on behalf of the New York Landmarks

         23  Conservancy.

         24                 The Conservancy supports the

         25  reappointment of Chairman Tierney.  Under his
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          2  leadership, the Commission has taken some bold

          3  actions.  For example, last year, two endangered

          4  historic buildings were designated as landmarks.

          5  The ancient Federal House, at 67 Greenwich, and the

          6  Windermere Hotel.  These actions had been stalled

          7  for decades.  Until he proceeded, and prevailed over

          8  vigorous owner opposition.

          9                 The Conservancy does not always agree

         10  with the priorities and actions of Chairman Tierney.

         11    It's no secret that he has presided over a very

         12  difficult and contentious time for preservation in

         13  our City.  He does so as a loyal part of the

         14  Administration.  As such, we are not privy to his

         15  views on certain issues, such as the adequacy of the

         16  resources he is given to run the agency.

         17                 However, we have our own view, and

         18  can suggest what seems obvious to us.  It is that

         19  the Landmarks Preservation Commission needs more

         20  staff to increase the pace of research and

         21  designations as well as to respond to the growing

         22  regulatory and enforcement work load.  This step

         23  would quell much of the complaints about the time it

         24  takes to designate a landmark or obtain a permit.

         25                 We think this was obvious from last
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          2  year's oversight hearings.  By far, the most cited

          3  deficiencies were ones attributable to inadequate

          4  resources.

          5                 We urge you to confirm Chairman

          6  Tierney's reappointment.  We look forward to working

          7  with him and the new Council to get past the recent

          8  divisiveness.   With development pressures at a

          9  record level throughout all the five boroughs, it is

         10  imperative that our efforts be directed towards

         11  saving the best of our past for future generations.

         12                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         13  present the Conservancy's views.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next person.

         15                 MS. KITASEI: My name is Hilary

         16  Kitasei, and I'm Chair of the Henry Hudson Parkway

         17  Task Force, which was formed by the Riverdale Nature

         18  Preservancy.

         19                 We're spearheading the designation of

         20  the Henry Hudson Parkway as the first New York State

         21  scenic byway in New York City.  We've received  --

         22  this is an initiative that's received broad support

         23  from the communities and the park holders, the park

         24  supporters.  And preservationists in this corridor,

         25  which spans Manhattan and the Bronx.  And it's also
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          2  attracted the attention of people throughout the

          3  City, in all of your boroughs, who care about

          4  historic parkways, and historic public

          5  infrastructure of New York City.

          6                 We know that this Landmark Commission

          7  has not  -- and this Chair have not been without

          8  controversy.  But we support the reappointment

          9  because we have faith and great optimism,

         10  particularly in this Administration.  And we believe

         11  its enthusiasm for preserving the best culture and

         12  art in New York City, that this really is a great

         13  opportunity to preserve this public infrastructure,

         14  which gets so little attention ordinarily.

         15                 So we urge his reappointment, and we

         16  also implore the Landmark Commission, under his

         17  leadership, to help make this City aware of the

         18  beauty and the potential, and the function, the

         19  original design function of New York City's public

         20  infrastructure. Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         22  Ma'am.

         23                 MS. FREUD: Olive Freud, from the

         24  Committee for Environmentally Sound Development.  We

         25  are a local group on the West Side, interested in
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          2  development.  Overdevelopment.

          3                 Mr. Tierney has been such a

          4  disappointment to the preservation in our community.

          5    It almost makes us want to cry.  We have been

          6  requesting a public hearing for about five years,

          7  for Two Columbus Circle.

          8                 Who are we?  We, internationally,

          9  Nicholas Oraseff (phonetic), in the December 25th

         10  Art and Leisure section of the New York Times,

         11  reviewing the loss of buildings in this whole world,

         12  has mentioned Two Columbus Circle, one of the

         13  greatest losses internationally.  Nationally, it's

         14  the National Trust for Historic Preservation who has

         15  begged for hearings on Two Columbus Circle.

         16  Preservation League of New York State also begged

         17  for hearings. All the little organizations in

         18  Manhattan, little and big, all people who are

         19  interested in art, and nothing has happened.

         20                 So many prominent individuals and

         21  individuals, ordinary people, bus loads of people

         22  the tourists take to see Two Columbus Circle.

         23                 Why has Mr. Tierney refused to listen

         24  to any of us? Who does he listen to?  How does he

         25  make decisions?  What is his agenda?  Does he
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          2  appreciate diversity and taste?  Or is there only

          3  what the Mayor's friends want?  Is this the way to

          4  make decisions in a democracy?  We are very

          5  disappointed, and we hope that there will not be a

          6  unanimous decision to confirm him.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.  Thank

          8  you for coming.  This afternoon, the last panel will

          9  be Teri Slater, and Michael Henry Adams.

         10                 MS. SLATER: My name is Teri Slater,

         11  and I'm speaking as an individual this afternoon.  I

         12  listened to the member from Queens mention the

         13  Department of Sanitation.  The Department of

         14  Sanitation has an overwhelming burden, but they do

         15  an excellent job.  I'd like to give a medal to the

         16  people who come to our block and collect the

         17  garbage.  They're fabulous.

         18                 That sadly cannot be said of the

         19  Landmarks Preservation Commission.  And quite

         20  frankly, I don't think it matters who the Chair is.

         21  I think Mr. Tierney is a fine person. But that's not

         22  the issue here.  The issue is what the law says.

         23  What the agency does.  And what it does not do.  And

         24  when one's constituents, and I look around the table

         25  here, you're all elected officials, are telling you
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          2  that they are not happy about an agency of the City,

          3  you are required to respond to your constituents.

          4                 I think that's the bottom line here.

          5  We are very, very upset about the situation.

          6  Because we believe that the historic fabric of New

          7  York City is irreplaceable.  No matter which borough

          8  we're talking about.  I'm from Manhattan, but there

          9  are people from every borough here.

         10                 If the Council has the power to

         11  increase the budget and the staff at the Landmarks

         12  Preservation Commission, without the agency actually

         13  asking you to do so, and even as the Member from

         14  Staten Island said, they said "no" to increased

         15  funding.  I know what the Mayor wants.  But the

         16  Mayors don't often always get what they want.  And

         17  this is a case where the Council should take a

         18  leadership position and take that step and increase

         19  the staff and funding, so the vicious cycle will be

         20  broken once and for all.

         21                 The staff of Landmarks Preservation

         22  Commission is talented and over worked beyond

         23  belief.  They're now going to be asked to endure a

         24  renovation of the LPC offices, while they sit there,

         25  with the work load they have, with asbestos dust,
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          2  perhaps, lead paint dust, and whatever else is in

          3  the air, and I think that's intolerable.  When you

          4  shortchange the Landmarks Preservation Commission,

          5  you shortchange the public.   Thank you very much.

          6                 MR. ADAMS: Good afternoon.  My name

          7  is Michael Henry Adams.  And like many people, when

          8  I first met Chair Tierney at a party for my book,

          9  Harlem, Lost and Found, I had great expectations.

         10  And pointing out to him that night, and subsequently

         11  in a letter, some of my concerns about landmarks in

         12  Harlem, but also in other overlooked neighborhoods

         13  throughout the City, I thought because he had

         14  solicited these recommendations, that there would be

         15  a new day at the Landmarks Preservation Commission.

         16                 But as Ms. Slater suggests, what I

         17  found was that it really didn't matter whether Mr.

         18  Tierney was the Chairman, or whether his

         19  predecessors were the Chair.  Because they took no

         20  action, and he took no action also.

         21                 And Hillary Clinton, just this week,

         22  during Martin Luther King's birthday, referred to

         23  the U.S. Congress as a plantation.  And I think

         24  that's a very apt analogy for the City of New York.

         25  Because I'm reminded of what my friend, Bill Perkins
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          2  said to me recently.  He said the problem with the

          3  preservation movement is that the preservation

          4  establishment are so busy identifying with the slave

          5  master, that they don't want to protest too much

          6  against the Mayor.  Because it's really the Mayor

          7  who sets the policy.  And he said, you can kill the

          8  overseer, Mr. Tierney, all you want to, but you'll

          9  still be slaves.  And I would contend to you, that

         10  although my friends Downtown don't realize it, they

         11  are slaves just like us up in Harlem.  Because they

         12  too, with Two Columbus Circle, as we were saying,

         13  Thomas the Apostle Roman Catholic Church, are not

         14  having the heritage of our City even considered for

         15  preservation.

         16                 Now, the City Council, in the form of

         17  Mr. Felder and Mr. Perkins, with their incredible

         18  public hearings, showed us the way for being

         19  delivered out of bondage.  Mr. Perkins in his

         20  legislation, his wonderful report  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you wrap it

         22  up, Mr. Adams?

         23                 MR. ADAMS: His wonderful report,

         24  showed us the way for the Council to take the role

         25  to help to create some equality in the City
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          2  government, and to at least give their constituents

          3  an opportunity to have public hearings for deserving

          4  buildings.  And this is what I implore the Council

          5  to do.  Because it doesn't matter whether Mr.

          6  Tierney is reappointed or not reappointed  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you finish up

          8  Mr. Adams?

          9                 MR. ADAMS: Until the Council takes a

         10  leadership role, it will not make any difference who

         11  the Chairman of the Landmarks Preservation

         12  Commission is.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         14                 Okay.  I want to thank all of those

         15  people that came to testify today.

         16                 We've been joined by other Council

         17  Members.  Council Member Melissa Mark-Viverito, and

         18  Council Member Rosie Mendez.

         19                 And I just want to make an

         20  announcement.  Council Member Robert Jackson just

         21  told me that our Council Member Hiram Montserrate's

         22  sister just passed away, so we need to pray for him

         23  and his family.  And well, we can't do that now,

         24  it's not the right place.  But your thoughts for his

         25  family and his sister, who has suffered a long bout
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          2  with cancer, just passed away this afternoon.

          3                 At this time, we can have Mr. Tierney

          4  and Ms. Ryan come back forward.  You've already been

          5  sworn in.  And you've heard the testimony from the

          6  people that came.  So you both have opening

          7  statements that you'd like to make.  Whoever would

          8  like to go first.

          9                 MS. RYAN: Thank you for this

         10  opportunity.  I'm Elizabeth Ryan, also known as

         11  Livvie Ryan.  I live in the Borough of Brooklyn.

         12  And I fill the role of somebody who holds a real

         13  estate license.

         14                 I've been on the Commission now for

         15  three years. And the aspect of the work that I've

         16  most enjoyed is making sure that Brooklyn and its

         17  needs are taken as seriously as those of every other

         18  borough in the City.  And I very much look forward

         19  to continuing that opportunity.

         20                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you.  Good morning

         21  Chair Comrie, honorable Council Members all.  I'm

         22  Bob Tierney, Chairman of the New York City Landmarks

         23  Preservation Commission.  And thank you for the

         24  opportunity to testify before the Rules Committee

         25  today.
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          2                 Landmarks Preservation Commission  --

          3    this will be very brief  --  the Landmarks

          4  Commission is the City agency responsible for

          5  identifying and protecting the City's historical,

          6  aesthetic and cultural heritage.  The Commission

          7  carries out its mission by designating individual

          8  landmarks, interior landmarks, scenic landmarks, and

          9  historic districts, and regulating proposed work on

         10  buildings already designated and under our

         11  jurisdiction.

         12                 And to date, as we speak, the

         13  Commission has designated a total of 1,129

         14  individual landmarks, 84 historic districts, with 11

         15  extension on to those districts.  And a total of

         16  now, over 23,000 buildings already designated as

         17  individuals or within historic districts, all

         18  subject to the oversight, regulation, review, and so

         19  on of the Commission.

         20                 It's been a great honor and privilege

         21  for me to have served as Chair of Landmarks for the

         22  past three years.  The mission of this agency goes

         23  to the heart of what makes this City what it is

         24  today.  A unique place with a rich cultural

         25  aesthetic, and historic heritage, that all of us see
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          2  every day, in our built environment. It's

          3  everywhere.  All we have to do is look, and look up,

          4  and there it is.  And it's just  -- to be even the

          5  temporary trustee of that heritage, and in a small

          6  way, and to lead a committed and dedicated agency

          7  charged with its preservation, is both an honor and

          8  a continuing challenge, one that I am very proud to

          9  have undertaken. And hope to be able to undertake in

         10  the future.

         11                 So I thank you all for having me here

         12  today for this hearing.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.  I

         14  want to thank you both for being here and

         15  understanding the procedures today.  And I also want

         16  to thank you Mr. Chairman, for your even temperament

         17  over the past four years.  I've been on the

         18  Landmarks Subcommittee, under the great chair of

         19  Council Member Simcha Felder, and I want to  -- and

         20  in deference to him, let him have the first question

         21  or statement.  And then we'll hear from Council

         22  Member Melinda Katz, Council Member Dennis

         23  Gallagher, Council Member Gale Brewer, Council

         24  Member Michael McMahon, and then Council Member Tish

         25  James, David Weprin, hold on  --  Weprin, Garodnick,
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          2  Clarke, Recchia, did I get Avella?  No. Avella.  Did

          3  I miss anybody?  And oh.  We've been joined by

          4  Council Member Sara Gonzalez from Brooklyn.

          5                 Council Member Felder.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

          7  much Mr. Chairman.  I want to thank Mr. Adams first

          8  off, for equating me with Moses.  With bondage.  I

          9  don't know if you're still here.  If he's still

         10  here, I appreciate it very much.

         11                 I think I'd like to mention two or

         12  three things. One is, I think Councilman McMahon's

         13  comments about the personality, or person, I should

         14  say, the characteristics of a person are very

         15  important.  And I don't think that there

         16  meaningless.  I think that someone who chairs a

         17  commission, I think it's important for that person

         18  to have integrity, and to be able to be someone you

         19  can trust, even if you can disagree with.  So I

         20  think for one of the witnesses to come up and say

         21   -- I don't know the exact words, but I'm sure

         22  Landmarks West will attack me tomorrow no matter

         23  what.  So it doesn't matter.  But I think that is

         24  important, and I think despite our disagreements

         25  over the time that I've chaired the Landmarks
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          2  Committee, I would say that the Chair certainly was

          3  someone of integrity, someone that was, someone you

          4  can trust, even if you disagreed with him.  I think

          5  that is important.

          6                 Having said that, I would like to

          7  share with my colleagues my experiences both with

          8  the Commission as well as  the advocates.  I think

          9  the advocates, no matter what the Commission does,

         10  it will never be enough.  And I say that because I

         11  felt that was somewhat the experience that I had as

         12  Chair of Landmarks Committee, and I know that all

         13  the advocates are very disappointed to see me go.

         14  But I found that during my tenure, what went on was

         15  the following:  That when we did whatever the

         16  advocates wanted, I was the best thing that ever

         17  happened since apple pie.  And when I didn't I was

         18  the worst thing in the world.

         19                 Now that's not the way it works.

         20  That's not the way it works.  There's something

         21  called merit.  Sometimes things are right, sometimes

         22  things are wrong.  And particularly, the three items

         23  that we turned down in the Council.  Two, I was the

         24  devil on. And I assume the Commission were the

         25  heroes, the angels on that. The bank in Queens, as
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          2  well as Tenth Avenue.  In fact, I admired the

          3  cartoons that were put on the net, me knocking down

          4  the Tenth Avenue building, which was amazing.  The

          5  strength I had.  But then when it came to the other

          6  designation, which we wanted to designate, but the

          7  advocates said, no, don't designate it, because we

          8  want to designate the whole thing, not part.  And we

          9  turned that one down.  Then it was okay.

         10                 So all I'm saying for the record, I

         11  would say that it's a thankless job to be the head

         12  of a commission.  I think that the only question is

         13  why in the world  --  that's the question  -- why a

         14  normal human being would want to be the head of

         15  Landmarks Commission.  That should be the question

         16  about  --  but otherwise not.  So say that

         17  kiddingly, but I mean that, in all honesty, that I

         18  feel relieved that I will no longer be the Chair of

         19  the Landmarks Commission.  And I question why you

         20  would want to do it.  But if you're going to do it,

         21  it's somebody that I think people should understand

         22  again, it's somebody trustworthy and integrity.

         23                 I do have one questions of substance,

         24  believe it or not.  Is that you mention in your

         25  responses to the question that you just designated
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          2  Fieldston up in the Bronx.  And there have been a

          3  variety of questions regarding that designation as

          4  to the intention, not your intention, but as to what

          5  the purpose of the designation was.  Whether in

          6  fact, it was to address the quality and the

          7  historical value that may be attributed to the

          8  neighborhood.  Or to try to keep the neighborhood a

          9  certain way. And in my neighborhood, when you want

         10  to keep a neighborhood a certain way, that means

         11  keeping the Jews out, Orthodox Jews out, or Blacks

         12  out, or somebody else out.  Now, this is not a

         13  loaded question.  Just one minute.  I just want to

         14  know a simple answer.  When it comes to designating

         15  landmarks, some would say that there's a purist

         16  approach.  If the thing is worth landmarking, you

         17  landmark it.  No matter what the intention is. Okay.

         18    Others would say that if there are evil

         19  intentions, it may be more important not to

         20  landmark, even if its worth it, in terms of its

         21  historical value, but as to make a statement that

         22  people can't use a landmarking process for evil

         23  intentions.

         24                 So I want to know what your opinion

         25  is, not about Fieldston, about in general, about
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          2  landmarking and this issue.  And I thank you in

          3  advance.

          4                 MR. TIERNEY: And I thank you for your

          5  kind words and I'm thinking maybe I'm going to miss

          6  you as Chairman, and thinking now you're getting me

          7  the --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I certainly

          9  question your normalcy.

         10                 MR. FELDER: But on your latter,

         11  you're very, very serious of course, serious

         12  question and a serious issue on Fieldston and any

         13  other, as you said, any other district or anything

         14  else that goes on in this agency, in this

         15  government. That intention is despicable, never to

         16  be entered into our deliberations, never will enter

         17  into our deliberations, as long as I'm there, and

         18  anybody that I know on that Commission, and the

         19  staff, and that I can say with absolute categorical

         20  certainty.

         21                 You said, I think what you then

         22  suggested is maybe that could, some might see a

         23  decision that we would make, or anybody, any

         24  government agency would make, would have the effect,

         25  if not the intention of the people doing it, but the
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          2  effect that you described.  I don't believe on that

          3  category either, although I can't swear to it with

          4  the same certainty that I can assert the first.  But

          5  I believe strongly also, that the effect will not be

          6  what you have stated or feared, or what's out there

          7  as a concern.

          8                 And in fact, if there's any way,

          9  shape, or form, or any suggestion of that, and if

         10  there's anything within my power, as the Chairman of

         11  the Commission, to root it out, I'll do it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Look, I'm not

         13  sure I agree with you, but the first question, you

         14  didn't answer.  And I'd like an answer.  And I'm

         15  sorry to my colleagues, but it's very rare that I

         16  get a chance to hog the show.  This is the Committee

         17  that I had, so I just want to get to the bottom of

         18  this.  You said you would never take that into

         19  consideration.  And that's the question I have.  I

         20  think that it should be taken into consideration.  I

         21  think any government agency has to consider what's

         22  going on.  If you're telling me that --  if you're

         23  saying that you're a purist, and that no matter

         24  what, it doesn't come into account, only thing you

         25  look at is whether this deserves to be landmarked or

                                                            46

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  not, that's an opinion.  And you're allowed an

          3  opinion.  You know.  You are allowed an opinion.

          4  But that doesn't mean I agree.  So, can you answer

          5  my question?

          6                 MR. TIERNEY: Sure.  We make all

          7  decisions, in so far as humanly possible, on the

          8  merits.  Whether it's historically significant, and

          9  all the others  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So even if you

         11  knew for sure that this was  --  not like you said,

         12  that there was no problem. Even if you knew for sure

         13  that there was a problem, you're telling me that you

         14  would designate it because that's your job.  Your

         15  job is to designate it, not to decide whether it's

         16  going to   --  what consequences, or what's going

         17  on.

         18                 MR. TIERNEY: Not unmindful,

         19  particularly, of consequence that is so destructive.

         20    So I would hypothetically, make the decision, and

         21  then do everything in my power, if there's any

         22  evidence or whatever, to root it out.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Who is the new

         24  Chair of the Landmarks Committee?  Are we allowed to

         25  know?  Okay, forget it. I'm finished.  Thank you
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          2  sir.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

          4  Katz.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Commissioner

          6  Tierney, welcome to our Committee.  We do appreciate

          7  your time in being here.

          8                 You had the opportunity of listening

          9  to many of the advocates before you actually

         10  testified here today.  Which quite honestly, was an

         11  unusual circumstance, I thought, but a very good

         12  one.  Because it gives you the opportunity perhaps,

         13  to comment on some of their testimony.

         14                 I have a few questions, but I guess,

         15  first off, can you just go over very briefly, how

         16  Landmarks decides to designate a piece of property,

         17  and a historical district?  If there's a difference.

         18                 MR. TIERNEY: Sure.  I will.  What

         19  happens in the Commission is there are numerous ways

         20  in which both districts and individual properties

         21  are brought to the attention of the Commission for

         22  the purpose of evaluating those properties and

         23  seeing whether they rise to the level of

         24  consideration to be designated as historic landmark.

         25                 The normal, the most normal process
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          2  for that to occur would be in a formal RFE, I hate

          3  the acronyms, but I'll give it to you.  It's a

          4  Request for Evaluation.  It's a simple, one- page

          5  form that's found on our website.  Someone, a

          6  citizen, an advocate, whomever, sees a piece of

          7  property or historic district, or potential historic

          8  district, a group of properties, fills out a RFE, or

          9  calls me up, or puts it in a letter, an e- mail, and

         10  said, I would like to Landmarks Commission to

         11  consider, to make an evaluation of, there's a

         12  request for an evaluation of the following property

         13  for purposes of deciding whether it should be a

         14  landmark or not.  We get, on the average, it's a

         15  rolling average, of almost 300 of those a year.

         16  Formally.  In addition to those, we get everybody's

         17  around.  Everybody is looking.  Myself do, my

         18  Commissioners do, staff, everyone is out there

         19  coming across buildings, coming across areas and

         20  saying, take a look at this. What do you think of

         21  this?  I ran  --  whatever  -- I was on the Lower

         22  East Side, or wherever, and I saw this building,

         23  jotted down the address, what do you think of it?

         24  Is it in your purview to take a look at it?

         25                 So it comes from everywhere.  But
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          2  basically, we distill these into a body of requests,

          3  and we look each year  -- the average is somewhere

          4  around 300 a year that eventually get into the

          5  actual RFE category.

          6                 So then we get it.  And what we then

          7  do is, I meet every, at least every week, sometimes

          8  twice a week, extensively for hours, with the

          9  research department, headed by Marybeth Betts, who

         10  is a distinguished historian, professional in the

         11  area of historic designations, historic

         12  preservation.  And she brings to me, she and her

         13  crack staff, which we have been able to enhance the

         14  size of over the last  --  and I speak to the budget

         15  later, but the budget of the Landmarks Commission,

         16  in the last three years, has increased by 20

         17  percent.  The personnel is up 20 percent.  And that

         18  didn't happen by magic.  It happened because I

         19  talked with the Council, and  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I don't mean to

         21  be disrespectful.  It's just that we are working on

         22  a timeframe, and I think that if you could just

         23  stick to the facts of how it happens.

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: Okay.  Of course.  Then

         25  we have the meeting, these biweekly meetings, or
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          2  whatever they are, with Mary -- however frequent

          3  they are, with Marybeth Betts, my research, her

          4  research staff.  Some of the senior staff of the

          5  agency, and they said, well, we have whatever.  We

          6  have a dozen RFEs, or we do it by category, maybe do

          7  it by one borough at a time.  Or whichever.  It

          8  changes.  And then, those buildings or requests are

          9  brought to my attention in that session.  And then

         10  we go over it, we debate it. We look at it, she

         11  shows me slides, she does PowerPoint, she talks

         12  about the history, we pepper each other back and

         13  forth, the request.  And we get to the point of,

         14  okay, does it or doesn't it pass the threshold test?

         15    And here are the threshold test is, over 30 years

         16  old, in reasonably intact, that it hasn't been  --

         17  intact means it hasn't been radically changed, the

         18  original siding hasn't been  --  or the brick hasn't

         19  been destroyed.  Or as an example, aluminum siding

         20  hasn't taken over.  Reasonably intact, and it has

         21  architectural integrity.

         22                 And the statute that we apply  --

         23  you'll see it's by the way it's worded, is a very

         24  broad statute.  Is that it have a special character

         25  or special historic or aesthetic interest, or value.
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          2    As a part of the development, heritage, or

          3  cultural characteristics of the City, State, or

          4  nation.

          5                 And then, in the case of a historic

          6  district  -- that's for all landmarks.  In a

          7  historic district, you make the secondary finding

          8  that there  --  that these buildings together have a

          9  coherent and distinct sense of place.  That is to

         10  say, you walk into a historic district, you walk

         11  down the street, or around the block, and you get a

         12  sense that you are in a coherent distinct community.

         13

         14                 And finally, interior landmarks, the

         15  last threshold for them, is they have to be

         16  customarily open and accessible to the public.

         17  Okay.  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  So

         19  basically, it would --  Mr. Tierney, let me  --  we

         20  are trying to a --  basically you send your folks

         21  out, or people give a request.  You look at it, you

         22  research it.  You see if it meets the criteria, then

         23  you vote on it and send it out.  Basically?

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: Well, this Committee

         25  then votes, sends it to other members of the
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          2  Commission, like Ms. Ryan here with me, and get

          3  their take.  It passes our threshold.  We say, okay,

          4  it has everything that I've just described to you.

          5  But I'm not a one- man, or one- person vote on the

          6  Commission.  So I want to see if there's a

          7  reasonable  -- A, if their expertise is brought to

          8  bear.  Do they agree or disagree with this

          9  assessment.  I want to be sure that when and if we

         10  go to the next stages, that there will be support

         11  within the Commission for actually voting a

         12  designation.

         13                 So that's the  --  so it goes through

         14  them, and then back to us and make that

         15  determination.  And then eventually, yes, it gets

         16  calendared.  It's put on a calendar and becomes

         17  subject to a very formal process of public hearings

         18  and so on.  I'm sorry to stretch it out, but that's

         19  how it  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Who is the one

         21  who decides that it makes it to the Commission for a

         22  vote?

         23                 MR. TIERNEY: Ultimately, I do.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  We have

         25  had a long history, Commissioner, you and I, and I
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          2  think the Committee as well.  One of the things that

          3  has come up most recently, in my district, and I'm

          4  glad that you went over the process by which

          5  something is landmarked, and becomes on your agenda.

          6  The Trylon (phonetic) Movie Theater in my district,

          7  there was a lot of controversy on it.  I was quite

          8  shocked to find out from the advocates at the time,

          9  that you apparently said that if I supported it, and

         10  sent a note over, that you would do a hearing on it.

         11    So my question is, somewhat as a Council Member

         12  from the district, but more so as the Chair of the

         13  Land Use Committee that's going to have to work with

         14  you for the next four years.  I need, on the record,

         15  to know that if I send a note over approving your

         16  landmark, that doesn't necessarily mean that you're

         17  going to have a hearing.  And on the other side of

         18  it, if I send over a note saying you should not have

         19  a hearing, that it doesn't mean that you're going to

         20  decide on your own to have it, or not to have it.

         21                 But I do need that cleared up.  It

         22  was in the Daily News, on the controversy in my area

         23  has been immense.  And I know, that by the way, just

         24  to finish this, if there are things that I could

         25  just send over note approving, I would be happy to
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          2  oblige that.

          3                 MR. TIERNEY: What you've just stated

          4  is precisely what the policy of the Commission is.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  Why don't

          6  you state it for me.

          7                 MR. TIERNEY: That the Landmarks

          8  Commission makes these decisions on the merits, as

          9  I've just taken you through the process. And based

         10  on our analysis and judgements as the merits of the

         11  case.  And what was the formulation?  A letter, or

         12  communication either from  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And no approving

         14  of it.

         15                 MR. TIERNEY: From a Member of the

         16  Council, either in favor or opposed to the

         17  designation, is not a determinate factor.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  So you

         19  basically determine what ends up on the agenda or

         20  not.

         21                 MR. TIERNEY: Yes, ma'am.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: That's basic.

         23  Okay.

         24                 I know that there is an issue on

         25  staff.  Some of the advocates  --  do you feel that
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          2  you have enough staff to do the job appropriately?

          3  In the Landmarks Commission.

          4                 MR. TIERNEY: I think we're getting

          5  there.  And that's when I started drifting into that

          6  and you correctly put me back onto the RFE process.

          7  But I think with the 20 percent enhancement over the

          8  last three years, it's been significant. We're

          9  beefing up preservation, which is the regulatory

         10  side.  The number of applications are going through

         11  the roof as the economy continues to boom.  So we

         12  beefed that up, and we then we beefed up the

         13  Marybeth Betts, to be able to have the capacity to

         14  do more designations, which I believe is necessary.

         15  And I'll never say, one never says it's enough.  But

         16  we're making progress.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.  And

         18  lastly, I know my colleague, Councilman Gallagher is

         19  going to talk about the distinction between Queens

         20  and Manhattan.  You know what.  I'll stop there.

         21  That's fine.  I appreciate your time.  Thank you.

         22                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you

         24  Council Member Katz. Next, we have Council Member

         25  Gallagher and then Council Member Brewer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you

          3  Madam Chair.

          4                 Mr. Tierney, thank you.  Let me just

          5  start, so you understand this.  I plan and fully

          6  intend to vote for your confirmation here today.  I

          7  think, as Simcha said, that you're a man of

          8  integrity.  I think that we disagree on a lot.  And

          9  in particular, I want to state that I'm very

         10  disappointed with the way the Landmarks Commission,

         11  even in your description to Councilwoman Katz, with

         12  regards to your system of operation, and how you

         13  make a determination before something comes before

         14  the Commission.  In particular, I think that you

         15  should have a system that makes sure that borough by

         16  borough considerations are included.

         17                 Normally, I ask you in advance, if

         18  you'll give me the numbers which rarely change on

         19  historic districts, by borough. But I figured I'd

         20  give them to you today.  And maybe you could correct

         21  me, because in your testimony, I think you indicated

         22  there were 84 historic districts.  But I think I

         23  have a listing of 82.

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: I believe it's 84.

         25  Today.  As we speak.

                                                            57

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Okay.  So

          3  we have nine in the Bronx.  Right?  We have 16 in

          4  Brooklyn.  We have 6 in Queens. Three in Staten

          5  Island.  And 53 in Manhattan.  Is that correct?

          6                 MR. TIERNEY: That's correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Okay.  So

          8  what is being done in particular, I'll talk on

          9  behalf of my home county, of Queens county, to add

         10  more historic districts?  And I'd like you also to

         11  comment perhaps on a district that we've been

         12  working on that we put in the request for evaluation

         13  now over a five- year period, of Richmond Hill.  And

         14  just for the record, so some of my colleagues can

         15  understand why, and I apologize for being a little

         16  parochial.  For five years, we've been attempting to

         17  have Landmarks come down and to have a hearing on

         18  Richmond Hill for historic district.  And at one

         19  point, notwithstanding the fact that we went in, we

         20  made a presentation with community and civic

         21  associations. And when Landmarks came out to

         22  evaluate the area itself, they sent their staff to

         23  the wrong location, and photographed the wrong

         24  blocks, none of the areas that we were attempting to

         25  review.  And it showed to me, utter disrespect for
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          2  Queens County, and for our request.  As is evidenced

          3  also, by the number of historic districts in

          4  Manhattan versus Queens.

          5                 I firmly believe that the Landmarks

          6  Preservation Commission is just too Manhattan

          7  centric, and I think some of the members of your

          8  commission should not only use Queens County as a

          9  route to go up to JFK and to LaGuardia, or maybe

         10  their only experience in Queens is taking the Long

         11  Island Railroad on the way out to the Hamptons.

         12  They should stop off, and they should see Ridgewood.

         13    They should stop off and see Richmond Hill.  And

         14  they should stop wasting time.  Five years is long

         15  enough for Landmarks to make a decision on Richmond

         16  Hill.  And Queens County, and the significance of

         17  the historical areas in the outer boroughs has been

         18  denied for far too long by this Commission.

         19                 And I intend to vote on you today,

         20  but I'd like a commitment from you today that you're

         21  going to step forward and you're going to protect

         22  the outer boroughs.  And I understand the need to

         23  protect Manhattan, and I'm for it.  I'm a

         24  preservationist on most cases.  But I want you to

         25  step forward and protect the outer borough.  We're
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          2  proud of the historic significance of Queens County,

          3  and Staten Island, and Brooklyn, and the Bronx.  And

          4  we want to see something other than Manhattan always

          5  getting the attention of the Landmarks Preservation

          6  Commission.

          7                 MR. TIERNEY: And so do I.  And I said

          8  that three years ago, in my first hearing.  I said

          9  it when I was appointed, in my confirmation hearing,

         10  three years ago, that I want to, strongly want to

         11  move out the Commission in addition to Manhattan, to

         12  the other, all the other boroughs of this City.  And

         13  I believe, if you look at the record of the last

         14  three years, we've done that.  Six hundred buildings

         15  brought under  --  designated, both in districts and

         16  in individually over the three years that I've been

         17  Chairman. Four hundred of them happen to be outside

         18  Manhattan.  Two thirds. It's a long  --  you said

         19   --  you're right.  Fifty-three designated  --

         20  fifty-three districts in Manhattan with the

         21  exception of Hanscort market (phonetic) --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: And six in

         23  Queens.

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: -- That happened before

         25  I was here.  And I can't comment  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: In your

          3  response  --

          4                 MR. TIERNEY: I'm not apologizing for

          5  it, but I am doing everything I can within my power

          6  to try to move away from that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I'm glad

          8  you said that. In your response, it said that you

          9  were looking at various large districts in Queens.

         10                 MR. TIERNEY: Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Could you

         12  share with us this  --

         13                 MR. TIERNEY: Sunnyside is a district

         14  that we're currently  --  and Kew Gardens, that, as

         15  Councilwoman Katz knows, that's a potential district

         16  that we're seriously looking at, and we're going to

         17  be walking at  --  one of the steps I took, that I

         18  didn't mention as I was going through that process,

         19  is we are out there, in those communities, looking

         20  at buildings, looking at potential districts,

         21  talking to community groups, talking at community

         22  meetings to try to get a sense of what  --  and as

         23  you know, I've been in Ridgewood  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: And you

         25  have.  But unfortunately, I don't know that the
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          2  Commission heard the message from the community of

          3  Richmond Hill.  I mean, here we are in the Council,

          4  that we have to take some contentious votes because

          5  there's not unanimous support, or a tremendous

          6  amount of support for the landmarking of certain

          7  facilities.  And out in Richmond Hill, we have the

          8  support of every elected official.  We have the

          9  support of the Community Board.  Every community and

         10  civic association.  Petitions were given to the

         11  Landmarks Preservation Commission that constitute

         12  thousands of individual homeowners.  The Historical

         13  Society has gone out front.  And yet, we can't get

         14  an answer.  And I think that's part of the problem

         15  and the frustration that many of my colleagues, who

         16  I've spoken to about Landmarks, I think they share

         17  with me.

         18                 The fact that the process is too

         19  slow.  The fact that it's  --  the determination is

         20  made by a few of your staff persons, many of whom I

         21  think don't have an understanding of the outer

         22  borough and really should get out of the outer

         23  boroughs.  And I understand when you're walking

         24  through Manhattan and Greenwich Village, that you

         25  might see, and just want to jot down an address,
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          2  well, I ask you to send your staff out to Queens,

          3  out to Staten Island, and other boroughs and have

          4  them jot down some of the areas in these boroughs.

          5                 MR. TIERNEY: I don't have to send

          6  them out there, they live there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Well then,

          8  I don't know why the disparity still stands the same

          9  as it has been for the last couple of years.

         10                 MR. TIERNEY: You can't undo in three

         11  years what's -

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Why does it

         13  take five years for Landmarks to make a decision on

         14  a community in Richmond Hill?   Why is it taking

         15  even longer for the request in Ridgewood? And most

         16  importantly, you know, we have people who want this

         17  designation.  And are not going to fight it.  And

         18  yet, Landmarks just seems to turn their back on

         19  them.  And I know that you and I should probably

         20  have this conversation in a little bit more detail

         21  at a later point.

         22                 And I believe that you're a man of

         23  integrity.  But I ask, and I ask you publicly, on

         24  behalf of the outer boroughs, to use your term to

         25  step up to the plate, and recognize the historical
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          2  significance of Queens County, and the other

          3  boroughs.

          4                 I'm very disappointed.  Because I

          5  read, too, your quote in the Daily News, about all

          6  you had to do was get a letter from your elected

          7  official.  Because I had a letter from me today,

          8  asking you to put Richmond Hill on the calendar.

          9                 But nevertheless, I shouldn't have to

         10  give you a letter.  I asked that the community of

         11  Richmond Hill have an opportunity to be heard.  And

         12  put it on the calendar.  And put it up for a vote,

         13  and do the right thing for Queens County.  Thank you

         14  Madam Chair, and thank you Mr. Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much Mr. Chairman.  I want to say this.  I found the

         18  agency in your leadership to be responsive, but

         19  there are many issues.  I do think that because of

         20  the lack of calendaring, and looking at Two Columbus

         21  Circle, there's a damper.  That's what's pervasive,

         22  and it's a problem.

         23                 Let me ask three questions.  One, in

         24  terms of time. Council Member Katz talked about the

         25  process.  But I wanted to know how long does that
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          2  process take?  I also wanted to ask about openness.

          3  Because when we had the hearings on some of these

          4  bills last year, there was some discussion about

          5  other cities, where it is a public discussion when

          6  either the staff or the members of the Board decide,

          7  with your leadership, as to which items are going to

          8  come forward.  And I know recently, for instance, I

          9  suggested 200 West 72nd Street, and Riverside, which

         10  is a large building on 71st Street, I believe, and

         11  Riverside Drive, right at the edge of the historic

         12  district, and under development pressures, the like

         13  of which cannot even be described.

         14                 And so, if of course, my question

         15  about openness is even something like the listing of

         16  requests that come in, are they on a website?  Two

         17  Hundred West 72nd Street came in from a slip of

         18  paper from somebody walking down the street, ditto

         19  for the historic district.  Can that be listed, so

         20  that it's an open process?

         21                 And can we have some discussion,

         22  maybe in terms of your future vision, that the

         23  process will be more open, so people feel more

         24  confident.

         25                 And then finally, I understand  --  I
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          2  agree with Council Member McMahon, regarding your

          3  agency money.   But this is the problem.  When you

          4  have historic districts, 23,000 buildings, and I

          5  guess, within that, those are buildings in the

          6  historic district, under your purview, you just

          7  don't have enough sort of out- of- the- box money

          8  for lack of a better word, to maintain them. I think

          9  you know, we have an office storefront in the

         10  historic district, and with my own money, I

         11  renovated it according to LPC standards.  But every

         12  store around me, has every configuration of things

         13  on it, and no money, it's $100,000 to renovate those

         14  storefronts.  And no money to do it.  So it is an

         15  out- of- compliance historic district storefront

         16  tenants.

         17                 So my question is, what kinds of

         18  future are you thinking about as you are trying to

         19  maintain  --  are you thinking about ways that

         20  storekeepers, or other low- income individuals

         21  living in buildings that are in historic districts

         22  can maintain them?  Because if you don't have a lot

         23  of money, sometimes it's difficult and it's not

         24  happening.

         25                 So my questions are, timeframe for
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          2  beginning until hearing, or discussion?  How you

          3  make the process more open, what are your thoughts

          4  on that?  And have you thought about ways to

          5  increase the opportunity for people to participate

          6  in landmarks, when they're in a historic district?

          7                 MR. TIERNEY: Sure.  The timeframe, of

          8  course, varies widely  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Please turn off

         10  your cell phones.

         11                 MR. TIERNEY: The timeframe varies

         12  widely, and actually quite widely, depending on the

         13  nature, complexity, the number of buildings.  It can

         14  range from, and I'd hope I'd have an opportunity to

         15  tell this story, from on Staten Island, with

         16  Councilman Oddo, the example I always use as the

         17  best example, the most responsive and the quickest,

         18  if you will, is the H.A. Richardson House in Staten

         19  Island, that was brought to my attention on the day

         20  after New Year's Day two years ago by the

         21  Councilman. Could have been anyone else, I obviously

         22  totally consist in what I just described to Melinda

         23  Katz about the policy.  And we were able --  that

         24  house by a world famous architect, where he lived in

         25  1867 in Staten Island, was actually very much in
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          2  danger and threatened. And it was really a matter of

          3  days or weeks when that  --  when we could have lost

          4  that house.  And the intervention by the Councilman,

          5  the ability to call it to my attention, to get our

          6  staff into high gear fast, saved that house.  And

          7  it's just a remarkable achievement, and I think

          8  something the Commission  -- I wish we could do it

          9  on everything.  I mean, would that we had the

         10  resources, and the ability to do a turnaround of

         11  that kind in all cases, but we  --  but certainly,

         12  in an emergency case, I believe we can.  Have a

         13  historic district, with hundreds of buildings, it

         14  takes years.  It can take years.  I know that sounds

         15  like an incredibly long time.  And obviously, it is.

         16    But it requires  --  Marybeth Betts' Fieldston,

         17  that we've just finally concluded on, was a two-

         18  year effort involving on and off, several members of

         19  the research staff to do the kind of meticulous

         20  careful work that we think we owe it to the public

         21  to do.  When  --   the designation process is not

         22  something that we take lightly.  Either on the

         23  merits, in terms of does it pass these tests I was

         24  talking about. But also, we are talking about

         25  someone's property.  Somebody owns this property
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          2  that we are now considering in a very careful way.

          3  Putting under a level of government oversight and

          4  jurisdiction that at first blush, not everyone is

          5  entirely enthusiastic about.

          6                 So we have to be very careful, and

          7  that, of necessity, adds perhaps, slows down the

          8  process somewhat.  I think for the right reasons.

          9  And then again, too, the number of buildings that

         10  are under consideration, and the amount of research

         11  that has to be done to make a good, careful case.

         12  Whether we're going to go forward or not go forward.

         13    We really have to have a basis for doing that.

         14  And a basis that we feel confident is the right one.

         15                 Your idea of putting the RPEs on the

         16  website.  I have my counsel here, who will probably

         17  kill me.  At first blush, it sounds to me like a

         18  marvelous idea.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Can we do it?

         20                 MR. TIERNEY: If you'll let me, as it

         21  were, or advise me that there's a reason that we

         22  can't.  One of the potential issues with it might be

         23  that in some cases, there will be a request for an

         24  evaluation of a property that we carefully and

         25  quietly review so that whoever has an interest in
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          2  that property is not immediately aware of it.  And

          3  is able, then, to pull a  --  I'll just state it out

          4  front, it happens.  To pull a demolition permit. So

          5  that all of our careful deliberations go down the

          6  drain.

          7                 So an RFE list potentially has some

          8  of those pitfalls.  But it's worth exploring, and I

          9  think it's a great idea. But with some  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: With caveats.

         11                 MR. TIERNEY: Yes.

         12                 And the openness.  I think we have an

         13  incredibly open agency.  We have, I counted it up

         14  last night, we had over 500 public hearings in our

         15  agency last year.  Many of them, of course, on the

         16  regulatory side.  Certificates of Appropriateness.

         17  People come in.  But big hearings.  Important

         18  hearings.  Where people's property rights are at

         19  stake.  Where people in the advocacy community who

         20  are so important to the process, are making known

         21  their views.  What can you, or can't you do to a

         22  designated property?  Can you add a roof top

         23  addition?  Can you not?  Are you doing the right

         24  kind of windows?  Are you making the kinds of

         25  appropriate changes?  So we do that, and it's all
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          2  open, out there hearings.  Community Boards, I

          3  believe, in the last three years, empowered, if you

          4  will, I don't like that word, but made it  --  we

          5  have changed our process whereby nothing gets on our

          6  calendar anymore and we've upped these 500- odd

          7  hearings until the Community Board is actually had

          8  an opportunity to see the matter, and vote up or

          9  down, or put it on the schedule.  If they come to us

         10  and say, we want it, say go to the Community Board

         11  first.  The Community Board is not binding, as you

         12  all know.  It's not in the statute, but it's

         13  important to us.  Community Boards are critically

         14  important in all of those areas.

         15                 So I think it's a pretty open

         16  process.  And I think we have multiple  --

         17                 (inaudible shouting from the

         18  audience)

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Please.  Please.

         20    We will have you removed from the hearing.  We

         21  will have you removed from the hearing.  This is not

         22  a debate, Michael.  Do you want to be expelled from

         23  the hearing?

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: I think that concludes

         25  my answer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And

          3  then those issues about the funding, not for the

          4  agency, but for the other  --

          5                 MR. TIERNEY: We don't have that  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know you

          7  don't.  I'm just trying to say  --

          8                 MR. TIERNEY: There is something I

          9  would like to talk to Deputy Mayor Harris, and --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's what I

         11  am saying.  As one of the issues for the future.

         12  Because it is a sort of meaningless designation if

         13  everybody isn't able to participate. And I don't

         14  know the answer, but I know it should be part of

         15  your vision.

         16                 MR. TIERNEY: Good point.  And I'll

         17  pursue it.  Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Sorry for that

         20  outburst.  You can't expect better from him, because

         21  he's been here that often. Many times.  But that is

         22  not something that should be tolerated. In the heat

         23  of discussions, you all have been cooperative.  And

         24  I hope that you consider that that was just a

         25  temporary outburst.
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          2                 Council Member James.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you Mr.

          4  Chair.

          5                 Commissioner Tierney, I do not serve

          6  on Rules.  I do not have a vote today.  However,

          7  I've injected myself into this discussion, because

          8  as you know, I represent a historic district, Fort

          9  Green.

         10                 MR. TIERNEY: I do.  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I just want

         12  to say to you, thank you for being open and being

         13  responsive to my calls and to the calls of my

         14  community.  Let me go on to say that normally, I

         15  suspect that the reappointment of a Commissioner

         16  would be just proforma.  It would probably be

         17  nothing more than a professional courtesy.  However,

         18  I guess given all of the unprecedented rate of

         19  development that we are experiencing in New York

         20  City, this reappointment has become a cause, and I

         21  really don't  --  and it has become a cause.  And

         22  somewhat controversial.  But in advance of your

         23  reappointment, which I suspect will happen, I

         24  congratulate you as well as Ms. Ryan, and thank you

         25  for what you have done to help our communities
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          2  preserve New York's history and architectural beauty

          3  and plan for a vibrant future with a new and

          4  appropriate development that serves all of our

          5  communities.

          6                 And I, and my colleagues, I am

          7  certain, look forward to working with you and

          8  increasing your enforcement unit to make sure that

          9  it is responsive to communities who are dedicated to

         10  making sure that development in the City of New York

         11  is appropriate, safe, and according to plan.

         12                 And we look forward to your

         13  leadership to ensure that communities, particularly

         14  the communities that I represent, the Brownstone

         15  community that I represent, that you continue to

         16  empower the public and help them understand that

         17  they have as much voice as developers in the City of

         18  New York.

         19                 And we hope that you will do

         20  everything in your authority to make sure that all

         21  of the communities get a fair hearing to determine

         22  whether or not structures or neighborhoods get

         23  public designation hearings.

         24                 We know that time is limited, but

         25  hearings are absolutely critical.  And it is
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          2  critical that government is open, and that the

          3  concerns of the public be voiced.  And that you be

          4  responsive to their concerns.

          5                 We also want to thank you again for

          6  your personal openness with my office, and with this

          7  body.  And we urge you to continue this mutually

          8  helpful relationship.

          9                 We, as City Council Members, are

         10  really on the front line with our communities.  I

         11  know that I am.  I'm in my community every day,

         12  working with many people.  I know their concerns.  I

         13  know their problems.  I know their hopes.  I know

         14  their dreams. And I know the issues.  We can help

         15  you work through  --  we, the City Council Members

         16  help our constituents work through the bureaucracies

         17  and present their issues in the most professional

         18  way possible.  And we urge you to keep your doors

         19  open, not only to my constituency, but the

         20  constituency of my colleagues as well.

         21                 And I'm also hopeful, Mr. Tierney,

         22  that you be open to again, looking at the Duffield

         23  (phonetic) homes that are not in my district,

         24  they're in Councilman Yassky's district, to see

         25  whether or not there's any nexus between the
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          2  Duffield Homes and the Underground Railroad.  That's

          3  absolutely critical.

          4                 I hope that you look at some of the

          5  homes in the Atlantic Yards footprint that we

          6  preserve some of those homes.  I believe that some

          7  of those are historic as well.

          8                 And lastly, in Fort Greene, there's

          9  been unprecedented development.  I believe on every

         10  other block, there's a major development.  And I was

         11  just  --  I just received an e- mail where an

         12  individual has purchased several lots in Fort

         13  Greene, in a historic district, and I'm very much

         14  concerned about preserving the character of Fort

         15  Greene, as well as my entire community.  I look

         16  forward to working with your office to ensure that

         17  my community, the Brownstone community of Downtown

         18  Brooklyn, is preserved.

         19                 My last question is really for Ms.

         20  Ryan.  I noticed that the LPC membership includes

         21  architects, historians, City Planners, a realtor.

         22  So on and so forth.  And my question to Ms. Ryan, do

         23  you represent the realtor?  Or do you represent  --

         24  are you a representative of Brooklyn?  I'm not quite

         25  sure.  You have a very distinguished career, and I
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          2  read in the paper, I wasn't sure what category you

          3  fit into.

          4                 MS. RYAN: Well first of all, realtor

          5  is a copyrighted name, and it implies that you're a

          6  member of the National Association of Realtors.  And

          7  I am not that.  I believe what the statute intended

          8  is that someone who holds a New York State Real

          9  Estate license be on the Commission.

         10                 I'm not really sure that I can

         11  separate those two things.  Certainly, if you're

         12  concerned that I ever have a conflict of interest,

         13  whenever there's the remotest possibility that there

         14  might be a gain available for me, I recuse myself

         15  from the decision.  And that has really happened

         16  almost not at all.

         17                 So I don't know if that sufficiently

         18  answers your question, but  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: There has been

         20  some concern, I've reading a blog, and some

         21  websites, regarding the Brooklyn Bridge project and

         22  there's a possibility that there's a building in the

         23  Brooklyn Bridge project, an individual would like to

         24  preserve that particular building.  And I know there

         25  is some pressure from the development world to
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          2  demolish that building.  And I don't know whether

          3  there's a possible conflict.  I'm not suggesting

          4  that there is but to the extent that that is a

          5  concern  --

          6                 MS. RYAN: It's actually a City- owned

          7  building that you're referring to.  And we're all

          8  very much looking forward to the testimony to learn

          9  more about the building and its merits.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, and

         11  congratulations to both of you.

         12                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you.  Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I just want to

         15  make a point of information, that Ms. Ryan is

         16  serving in the Realtors slot, not the Brooklyn

         17  designation slot.  Just to clear that up.

         18                 Council Member Weprin.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Yes.  I just

         20  want to add my voice in support of these two

         21  nominees.  But especially the Chair, Bob Tierney,

         22  who I know for many years, in many capacities.  He's

         23  served our City and State over the years, and he and

         24  his office have been very receptive and responsive

         25  to my office.  And any time there's ever been an
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          2  issue of our concern, they've always been

          3  accessible.  They've always provided all the

          4  necessary data.  And I strongly urge both of these

          5  appointees reconfirmation.

          6                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          8  Council Member McMahon.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you Mr.

         10  Chairman.  I have a big, long speech, but I'll try

         11  to give the abbreviated version, owing to time.

         12                 I just want to say that I think it

         13  was Ms. Seltzer, Slater, I apologize.  You indicated

         14  that I should listen to my community on this issue.

         15  And certainly I have representatives here,

         16  certainly.  Linda Eskenas, and Landmarks

         17  Preservation Commission, and they told me that with

         18  talking about Chairman Tierney, and also

         19  Commissioner Ryan, that without the funding, and

         20  without enough staff members to do it, they have

         21  shown courage and fine leadership.  We have found

         22  the Chairman and the Commission supportive and

         23  responsive, working under great restraints.  So I

         24  certainly do listen to my community.  And I think

         25  that as someone who has fought very hard for

                                                            79

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  landmarking, I have a certain amount of bonafides to

          3  say that I will be in support of both of nominees

          4  this afternoon.

          5                 But I do want to also say that I am

          6  concerned, and you raised the concern yourself, Mr.

          7  Chairman.  You talked about the Richardson House on

          8  Staten Island.  And you talked about the fact that

          9  it was very close to demolition.  And it was really

         10  because of community outrage, led by Councilman

         11  Oddo, and the other Council Members, and the

         12  community, and the local newspaper, that we got our

         13  attention on it.  At the same time, we were looking

         14  at the Errington School House, in my district, that

         15  came up at immediately the same time.  It was too

         16  late to save that building. And it was demolished,

         17  and is now some cookie- cutter townhouses that don't

         18  fit in the community.  And so, there have been

         19  successes, and there have been failures.  And the

         20  problem seems that always, we are responding to

         21  last- minute concerns, and that's why, working with

         22  the Historic District Council, I introduced the

         23  Demolition Delay Bill.  Which would mean that we

         24  would be, at least in terms of the demolition

         25  process, we'd be involved in the beginning, rather
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          2  than the end.  And even in the better world, we

          3  would have a survey done of the whole City of New

          4  York, showing, and identifying properties way ahead

          5  of the time that we're always chasing down the

          6  wreckers ball.

          7                 So my questions are, A, where do we

          8  stand in terms of affirmatively surveying properties

          9  in the City, especially in the outer borough?  And

         10  B, in response to the Demolition Delay Bill, and the

         11  hearings that we've had, I've asked your agency to

         12  quantify what resources would be necessary to

         13  implement the prescriptions of that bill?  And I

         14  know you don't have it for me now, but I want to

         15  know if you'd be willing to give me, at some point,

         16  the numbers and staff members of what would be

         17  necessary to implement that bill, so I can go back

         18  to Council Members and say, let's vote for this, so

         19  that we've changed the face of the City of New York

         20  forever, by not always chasing down and trying to

         21  get injunctions against demolitions, and being more

         22  proactive.

         23                 MR. TIERNEY: We'll definitely furnish

         24  you with those numbers.  And on the survey, this

         25  agency used to have an extensive survey capacity.
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          2  Fifteen people devoting full time to the surveys, or

          3  almost 15.  Most of their time.  Ten, 12, 15 years

          4  ago.  That has been with all of the other changes in

          5  government, and the downsizing and budget

          6  constraints, the survey, regrettably, was seen as

          7  not expendable is not the right word, but it was the

          8  victim of those cuts.  Slowly, but surely, I'm

          9  trying, in a piecemeal way, I have to admit

         10  piecemeal, because I can't hire 12 people tomorrow

         11  to start a survey.  But we're doing surveys on an ad

         12  hoc basis. Strange that you would ask it, but  --

         13  and obviously, you're aware of this, we started with

         14  Staten Island.  We have surveyed the entire, I

         15  believe the entire stock of Staten Island.  The so-

         16  called "windshield" survey, that I learned the

         17  definition of that being in the car, door by door,

         18  every building.  Pictures.  Analysis. Jotting down

         19  notes.  We've seen the results of that.  We're going

         20  through a winnowing process now.  We expect to meet

         21  with this probably, I hope on your calendar, and

         22  yours, and already, and just to go over the

         23  preliminary results of that survey, to start to make

         24  a dent in the issue you're talking about, which is

         25  this incredibly endangered, vulnerable potential
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          2  stock of landmarks that are out there.

          3                 And yes, the survey is a good tool

          4  for doing it. Because it achieves everything you

          5  want to achieve.  It lets you know exactly what's

          6  there, how important it is, so that if you can, in a

          7  systematic way, be able to take action that will

          8  protect and preserve that property.

          9                 So in a small way, I don't want to

         10  overstate it, but we are doing it in Staten Island.

         11  And we have been able to cobble together resources

         12  in terms of the research people and someone on a

         13  fellowship.  And we've got that product for you, and

         14  we look very much forward to sitting down and going

         15  over it with you for your thoughts and ideas.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you.

         17  And I have an interest, to be clear, that I will

         18  continue to push that bill this year.  And so, I

         19  look forward to receiving from you responses to what

         20  a quantification of what resources would be

         21  necessary. Because I think we do need to survey.  We

         22  do need to have a demolition delay.  And that would

         23  allow us to preserve many of the deserving landmarks

         24  throughout the City.

         25                 So thank you, and I look forward,
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          2  after today's hearing, to working with you for the

          3  next three or four years. Thank you Mr. Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.  Just

          5  an inquiry question.  The affirmative survey.  How

          6  long ago was that, kind of?

          7                 MR. TIERNEY: I believe it was started

          8  to winnow, started to be reduced, if not eliminated,

          9  in the late 80s.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And how much

         11  staff  --  well, you wouldn't know.  Your staff has

         12  been reduced over time.

         13                 MR. TIERNEY: Our staff has been

         14  significantly reduced.  And the overall, therefore,

         15  the overall staff, as you mentioned, has been

         16  significantly less, radically.  Because the numbers

         17  are bigger, but many of the cuts, if you will, the

         18  downsizing, came out of the research staff.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And that really

         20  hasn't come back to anywhere near those numbers?

         21                 MR. TIERNEY: Not satisfactory, no.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But you would

         23  say, that in light of all of the forces that are

         24  being discussed, you need to get back to a full

         25  complement of research people that could do the
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          2  affirmative surveys?  You could feel comfortable

          3  with reinstituting it?

          4                 MR. TIERNEY: I think that would be a

          5  desirable thing for many points of view.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And that would

          7  eliminate a lot of the redundancy or depending on

          8  Council Members to sign a letter, or other types of

          9  things, because you would have a --

         10                 MR. TIERNEY: We would have our own

         11  self- generating capacity, which is not without  --

         12  we still value all of the input from everyone.

         13  Because even the best surveyors in the world aren't'

         14  going to find everything, that I've learned.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  All right.

         16    I just wanted to be clear on that.  So the

         17  affirmative survey would be something that  --  or

         18  the ability to do affirmative surveys would be

         19  something that would be desirable.

         20                 MR. TIERNEY: Sure.  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  Council

         22  Member Garodnick.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you

         24  Mr. Chairman.

         25                 Mr. Tierney and Ms. Ryan, first of
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          2  all, thank you for being here.  Thank you for your

          3  service to New York City.  I should say, off the

          4  bat, this is my first Committee hearing, as a new

          5  City Council Member.  It is very clear to me, and

          6  it's very obvious, that you have a very challenging

          7  job.  And so, I commend you for your willingness and

          8  ability to undertake this.

          9                 I will be very brief.  By way of

         10  prospective, I represent a portion of the Upper

         11  Eastside of Manhattan, which includes over 125

         12  landmark buildings, and six historic districts. I

         13  come at this with a couple of suggestions, of which

         14  you may want to respond to or not, but I do want to

         15  give them to you, having spoken to the

         16  preservationist community in my district.

         17                 The first of which is one which we've

         18  discussed already in this hearing, which was speed

         19  at which things are undertaken.  And the speed at

         20  which responses are made, and understanding, of

         21  course, the meticulousness that is necessary from

         22  the Landmarks Commission, and understanding that

         23  there are property rights here, and important issues

         24  to be considered, the question for you is, I

         25  understand that there was a volunteer program that
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          2  was in effect, in the past.  There obviously,

          3  preservationists, there are capable people out

          4  there, who might be willing to offer on a volunteer

          5  basis, their services to the Commission, under the

          6  supervision of you all.  Is that something which you

          7  have considered?  Is that a program that existed in

          8  the past?  And can you just comment on that going

          9  forward?

         10                 MR. TIERNEY: I don't know whether it

         11  existed in the past.  But I do know, I, from time to

         12  time, have thought about such a program.  And it

         13  certainly has enormous merits.

         14                 I've talked to, as you anticipated, I

         15  did talk to -  the supervision of that kind of

         16  volunteer force, because of these very specific and

         17  specialized nature of the work and the research, is

         18  an issue.  That doesn't mean it can't be done and

         19  shouldn't be done.  And I will revisit it, because I

         20  think it's a great idea.  And anything we can do  --

         21  maybe you can push down the line to a less

         22  specialized inquiry, so many some of the early cuts,

         23  if you will, I don't know, but I would talk to

         24  Marybeth Betts, my research director, and see how we

         25  might be able to move in that direction.  It's a
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          2  great idea.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And the

          4  other one is a suggestion regarding the public

          5  process.  The hearings.  I wanted to see if you

          6  would consider changing the format of the hearings.

          7  Presently, the way it exists is a presentation made

          8  on a certain property, and members of the public are

          9  given the immediate opportunity subsequent to the

         10  presentation to comment on it. The City Planning

         11  Commission, as I understand it, does it a little

         12  differently.  They have the presentation, then they

         13  give a gap of time, perhaps a couple of days, in

         14  order to allow the public, even the local elected

         15  officials to consider what has been presented and to

         16  come up with a thoughtful and reasoned response, one

         17  which might be more constructive not only for the

         18  public to be articulate, but also for the Commission

         19  to understand exactly what the concerns are out

         20  there.  Is that something that you would consider

         21  going forward?  And is that something that you had

         22  considered in the past?

         23                 MR. TIERNEY: I think we already do

         24  something that addresses some of those issues, that

         25  issue.  And that's the following.  Every hearings
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          2  every Tuesday, public hearings, public meetings, on

          3  the overwhelming number which is the Certificates of

          4  Appropriateness, so called, that are involved

          5  regulations, what can be changed on property.  Every

          6  Friday, before those Tuesday meetings, the

          7  preparation  --  the lead up to it is enormous.  It

          8  takes weeks and weeks of work for the applicants

          9  with our staff at Landmarks and so on, to prepare

         10  the relevant information for the presentation,

         11  includes architectural boards, drawings,

         12  photographs, you name it.  All those materials are

         13   --  well, two things happen. One is they go to the

         14  Community Board for a presentation before they get

         15  to us, as I said earlier.  I've imposed that as a

         16  requirement.  You're not coming to the Landmarks

         17  Commission anymore, unless you've first gone to the

         18  Community Board.  And that's our rule.  So there's

         19  an opportunity at the Community Board to see the

         20  kind of thing you're talking about.

         21                 But more importantly, I think, every

         22  Friday, before the Tuesday, when we have a

         23  Commission, we put aside an entire day, and an

         24  entire  -- in the hearing room itself, with all of

         25  the materials relating to the presentation on each
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          2  of the projects. And the public at large, advocates,

          3  everyone, is encouraged, invited, to be there on a

          4  Friday.  And they come.  And they go over, project

          5  by project of whatever particular interest there

          6  might be to that person.  The one thing you don't

          7  have, I guess, is the actual owner making the

          8  presentation, but there's a limit to how much you

          9  can kind of logistical thing you can impose on them.So

         10  I think we do a lot of that.  I hope it's

         11  satisfactory, largely satisfactory.  If we can tweak

         12  it in some way to give the kind of time you're

         13  talking about.  I think maybe you do  --  it's

         14  already built into the process.  But I'll look at

         15  it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Yes.  My

         17  understanding is that there is some concern about

         18  the gap in time between the actual presentation and

         19  the time that the public has the opportunity to

         20  comment on it.  Putting aside that Friday session

         21  were referring to.  So I just ask that you consider

         22  that, because it certainly is something that I have

         23  heard from the preservationists in my district.  And

         24  that's all I have for you right now.  I look forward

         25  to working with you over the next number of years.
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          2                 MR. TIERNEY: As do I.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I wanted to just

          4  throw in an aside.  But Council Member Clarke.  I'll

          5  wait until last.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 Commissioner Tierney, a lot has been

          9  said here today, and I'm not here to reiterate it.

         10  I do want to send some echoes out there, because I

         11  represent the Victorian Flatbush section of

         12  Brooklyn.  And I know that there's been an appeal to

         13  really have there be some focus on the outer

         14  boroughs.  And then to hear the statistics given by

         15  my colleague, Council Member Gallagher, I'm sure

         16  there are a lot of people who know what you've

         17  inherited, but see a need to really bring a balance.

         18    When we look at the historic contributions of the

         19  entire City.

         20                 I'd also like to talk about some

         21  common sense measures, that I think could serve the

         22  Commission well.  One is being able to at least

         23  provide for the public an understanding of what

         24  rises to an emergency situation with the Commission,

         25  versus what would go through a normal procedure.
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          2  And is there a distinction between how each of them

          3  is approached?  In other words, it's okay for public

          4  sentiment to come to a ground swell to a point where

          5  Council Members have to write in, and say, please,

          6  if you don't come out in the next two weeks, it's

          7  over.  And then, there's just the  --  we've got

          8  block after block after block of homes that need

          9  your attention.

         10                 And whether you have put such

         11  mechanism in place for the public to know how best

         12  to get the attention of the Commission. Because I

         13  think that gets to some of the fundamental issues

         14  around community preservation.  That's one question,

         15  and then I'm going to wrap up.

         16                 I was listening to the staffing

         17  issues in the research department, and certainly my

         18  colleague, a new colleague, Council Member

         19  Garodnick, brought up a really important piece that

         20  I think should be looked at, which is the use of

         21  volunteer preservationists.  I can tell you, I'm

         22  always awed by the amount of information and

         23  expertise people gather when they want to save their

         24  community.  And to the extent that we can leverage

         25  that to help the process to proceed along.  I mean,
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          2  of course, there are going to be people who think

          3  they know everything, but don't necessarily have the

          4  where- with- all, for what ever reason, at what ever

          5  point in time, to insert certain things.  But we've

          6  got pictures.  We know the history of how Flatbush

          7  developed.  And right now, there's a huge

          8  encroachment issue happening there.  And it's like,

          9  well, when does time become of the essence?

         10                 Finally, to say, there are several

         11  communities within a community in Victorian

         12  Flatbush.  And if we're having people who do these

         13  assessments, and one area is now calendared, but six

         14  blocks down the road, there's another group who has

         15  already put in an application.  I know you had to

         16  drive through that community to get to the other

         17  community.  When are those observations become a

         18  part of, well, let me go back and see what these

         19  folks have an application too, maybe we can do a

         20  comprehensive piece.

         21                 Those are my questions for you

         22  Commissioner.  And for both of you, I just wanted to

         23  commend you for wanting to do this work.  We

         24  appreciate it.

         25                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you.  I will look
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          2  at those.  I think they are very good suggestions.

          3  We use the volunteers, now that you mention it, not

          4  so much in the day- to- day operations of the

          5  Commission, but when we go into a given community,

          6  Crown Heights immediately jumps into mind, is that

          7  there is an enormously committed body of volunteers,

          8  both people with residence, and also students.

          9  There's some Pratt students.  And we're trying to

         10  tap into that as a adjunct to what we do.  To do

         11  more, to do it faster, and to avoid, wherever we

         12  humanly can, the kinds of thing you're talking

         13  about.  And I will look at the Victorian Flatbush

         14  requests. We do have, as I said earlier, 270 or so

         15  Requests for Evaluation every year, and we have to

         16  set some things in order.  But it may make sense, as

         17  you've just suggested, that if it's contiguous, --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'm just

         19  thinking of efficiencies, Commissioner.  I mean, you

         20  have the situation where you could probably knock

         21  off a certain amount of your work very rapidly

         22  because you're using efficiencies in terms of

         23  addressing it.

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: Yes.  Good idea.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: How effective are

          4  digital pictures in looking at the properties now?

          5  With the advent of digital cameras, how effective is

          6  that in doing --

          7                 MR. TIERNEY: It helps enormously.  It

          8  allows us to put a lot of things on our website

          9  immediately.  And my staff, the research staff is

         10  out there with their cameras  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: An RFE with the

         12  digital pictures, would that eliminate the need for

         13  the assessment?

         14                 MR. TIERNEY: There's no assessment

         15  for an RFE.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, would that

         17  eliminate the need for an alternative survey?  If

         18  you had digital pictures  --

         19                 MR. TIERNEY: We have tons of people

         20  out there taking pictures, and supplying us with

         21  them.  It would aid us enormously. It wouldn't be --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you have the

         23  capacity to process that and keep that in the proper

         24  files?

         25                 MR. TIERNEY: We do.  They could all
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          2  be sent on the Internet, and not to my personal e-

          3  mail for these.  I get enough on that.  But

          4  certainly to the Commission's office, I think that

          5  would be  --  we already have a large inventory, and

          6  we're trying --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But what I'm

          8  getting to is -- and I'm sorry to be rude, I should

          9  let you finish a sentence.  But I what I was trying

         10  to get to is, with the advent of digital technology,

         11  the volunteer preservationist could submit those

         12  things with a proper order.  If you gave them a

         13  guideline on how to submit the RFEs with digital

         14  pictures, the angles, the amount of feet away, you

         15  could double your workload overnight.

         16                 MR. TIERNEY: It's a great idea.  And

         17  we'll try to exploit that.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I hope that we

         19  could move that into reality.  Is Council Member

         20  Recchia still here?  No.  We're losing Council

         21  Members.  Council Member Avella.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you Mr.

         23  Chair, for allowing me to sit in on this Committee.

         24  I'm here today basically in support of both

         25  nominees, and especially Commissioner Tierney. When
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          2  Commissioner Tierney first came before the Council,

          3  in his first appointment, I questioned him

          4  extensively about doing more work in the "other"

          5  boroughs.  Not the outer boroughs, the "other

          6  boroughs".  And I wish my colleagues would remember

          7  that term.  And I know that you have really made an

          8  effort to do that.  Council Member Gallagher really

          9  made a   --  you brought home a strong point about

         10  the fact that the other boroughs need to have more

         11  landmark districts, more individual landmarks.

         12                 And I think you've done the best that

         13  you can with the resources.  And I think that I

         14  could speak for you that you're going to do more in

         15  the future.  Because there's no question that more

         16  needs to be done.  One of the arguments that  --

         17  one of the statements I've made in the past is, if

         18  somebody sneezes in Manhattan, that corner becomes a

         19  landmark.  There has to be a mindset change in the

         20  Commission. And I know you're trying to do that.

         21                 Council Member Gallagher also brought

         22  up the fact about the length of time it takes to do

         23  landmarks and historic districts.  Working with you,

         24  in my district, for example, the Douglaston Hill

         25  historic district took 14 years.  And I'm happy to
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          2  say, that under your leadership, and working with

          3  you, we were able to accomplish that.  But no

          4  district in this City should ever have to go through

          5  that.

          6                 And one of the things that I think

          7  you're trying to do, and this Council is trying to

          8  do, is play catch- up for years of neglect, with

          9  previous Administrations, when it comes to the

         10  Administration, and the Landmarks Preservation

         11  Commission.

         12                 So let's continue the fight, so to

         13  speak.  And I would make one quick comment, because

         14  I know it's been a very long hearing.  Probably the

         15  longest hearing we've had for any Commissioner.  Is

         16  in terms of the budget situation.  I don't think

         17  it's your fault that you didn't ask for more money.

         18  Council Member McMahon, I think, pointed it out.  So

         19  did Council Member Oddo. That's not your purview to

         20  do.  You work within the Administration. But I think

         21  we, in this body, and the Administration, and I know

         22  they're represented here, have to make a commitment

         23  in this coming fiscal year, to stop the talk and

         24  give you more money to do the job.  Council Member

         25  Oddo and I have led the fight for the past couple of
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          2  years to get more money in the Buildings Department,

          3  and with the support of the Council, we've been able

          4  to do that.  Let's do the same thing for this

          5  agency.  Because they really need the money.  And as

          6  we increase the number of historic districts and

          7  individual landmarks, it's ludicrous to assume

          8  they're going to be able to do the job with the same

          9  amount of resources.

         10                 So let's cut out the nonsense, and

         11  let's just do this.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you

         13  Councilman.  Thank you.  Did you want to comment?  I

         14  think that was pretty clear.  All right.  Council

         15  Member Yassky.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you

         17  Chair Comrie.  And good afternoon, Mr. Chair

         18  Tierney.  I look forward, really with great

         19  enthusiasm to voting later.  I don't sit on this

         20  Committee, but voting in the full Council to approve

         21  your nomination.  I think that  --  I just want to

         22  say, because as you know, we somewhat recently had a

         23  public disagreement on a matter of policy.  I think

         24  that you're tenure has been marked by the utmost in

         25  professionalism, dedication, and real leadership on
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          2  the issue.  And I look forward to working with you

          3  over the next several years here.

          4                 I have a couple of quick questions,

          5  though, on this. One is on how you see the balance

          6  between districts, historic districts, and

          7  individual landmarks in terms of prioritization.

          8  Because it's my  --  I think they actually serve

          9  somewhat different functions, where landmarking is

         10  partly about preserving historic resources, probably

         11  about kind of an aesthetic or preserving artistic

         12  heritage, almost.  But also, and particularly for

         13  the districts, really about neighborhood

         14  preservation and keeping neighborhoods that way the

         15  people want them to be.

         16                 And I think, and I join with some of

         17  my other colleagues who mentioned it, that there are

         18  certainly, in Brooklyn, I'm not going to purport to

         19  speak for Queens or Staten Island, but I'm sure it's

         20  true there, several neighborhoods that really are in

         21  need of district designation.  I guess my question

         22  is how do you balance a priority, since you do have

         23  limited resources,  --

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: Part of it is the

         25  limited resources, of course, because a district, by
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          2  definition, encompasses many, many, many more

          3  buildings than hopefully not 14 years of  --  that's

          4  a terrible tale that Councilman Avella just alluded

          5  to, but nonetheless, if you're in an historic

          6  district like Fieldston, or other districts could

          7  encompass hundreds of buildings, it takes hundreds

          8  of hours, thousands of hours to do that work.

          9                 Individual designation, obviously,

         10  you spot it.  You focus on it.  And in a very

         11  discreet way, it can be handled much more

         12  expeditiously.

         13                 But there are different factors also.

         14    So that the ratio generally tends to be in an

         15  average year, that maybe 70- 80 percent of the

         16  designations are individuals, and then there will be

         17  one or two, or perhaps three historic districts in

         18  that given year. And that varies, roughly in that

         19  proportion.

         20                 The district, in a way, is easier to

         21  designate. Easier in quote, because everyone is

         22  being equally  --  you have a whole body of opinion

         23  that's being equally interested and equally affected

         24  by the decision.  So it's not as if this is the

         25  upside, you're not singling out anyone homeowner or
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          2  property owner. Everyone is in it together.  It's

          3  the central place, the coherence that you're talking

          4  about, that you have to look at.

          5                 So there are different standards.

          6  And I think you try to do both.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Indeed you try

          8  to do both. I guess I would just point out, leave it

          9  for here, to just point out that there's of course,

         10  some prioritization needs to go through.  I would

         11  urge that you do away the strong desires of

         12  residents to have their neighborhoods protected.

         13  Council Member Clarke talked about the Ditmus

         14  (phonetic) Park, Victorian Flatbush area, where you

         15  are doing the Fist Terrace (phonetic) designation,

         16  but the neighborhoods around there, my view, equally

         17  in need.  In DUMBO, which you and I have spoken

         18  about, a neighborhood that is facing quite rapid

         19  change, and the residents  --  you know, I think

         20  that the fact that you have a group of residents, a

         21  large group of residents in the other places, who

         22  are looking to Landmarks process to help protect

         23  their neighborhoods.  I think that should argue in

         24  favor of prioritization there.  And I would just ask

         25  you to take that into --
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          2                 MR. TIERNEY: I will take that into

          3  consideration. It's a good point.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And can you

          5  give me just some sense of specific example of, for

          6  example, in the DUMBO neighborhood, is that

          7  something that you see being able to look at in the

          8  near future?

          9                 MR. TIERNEY: We are looking at it.

         10  And it's in this pipeline that I described earlier.

         11  And as you know, we've had some discussions.  And

         12  I've done my own examination, both in the districts

         13  itself, and I have some materials that we have.  And

         14  we're putting all that material together so we can

         15  reach an informed judgement.  But it's in the latter

         16  stage of the pipeline rather than the earliest

         17  point.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Great.  Well,

         19  I won't take Committee  --  but I would like to talk

         20  to you further about a timeline there.

         21                 MR. TIERNEY: Of course.  Of course.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And my last

         23  point would be on --  it's my  --  and I don't know

         24  if this is official policy or not, of Landmarks

         25  Commission.  Somewhere along the line, I got the
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          2  notion that it was a practice, at least, of

          3  Landmarks Commission, not to hold a hearing unless

          4  it was an item that you were planning to act upon

          5  and move on.  And not  --  this is not something

          6  that I've ever discussed with you, so I'm not sure

          7  if it is the policy. At one point, I asked somebody

          8  from the Mayor's Office, when, in fact, it was one

          9  of the rezonings, couldn't you do a hearing on such

         10  and such.  They said, well, hearings are only for

         11  when the Landmarks Commission is going to designate

         12  something.  And I guess I would urge  --  I think

         13  that there's a real role to play to have a genuine

         14  exploratory hearing.  Let folks come out, make the

         15  arguments, give you the opportunity to hear them.

         16  In some ways, only through doing that, does the

         17  dialogue ever advance.

         18                 MR. TIERNEY: As you know also,

         19  though, in order to proceed in that way, that the

         20  building or the district in question, will be

         21  calendared, put on our calendar, meaning subject to

         22  all the restrictions that the Landmarks Commission

         23  imposes.  It's when you're on a calendar, it's the

         24  same as if you're landmarked. Nothing can be done to

         25  that property.  It's effectively frozen, if you
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          2  will, until such time as  --  the only way to get a

          3  building off the calendar and unfrozen is to

          4  designate it a landmark, or to vote no.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But a vote no.

          6    And that would be some finality.  So I just put

          7  that to you.  Again, I could not be more

          8  enthusiastic about voting for another term of yours

          9  as Chair.  Congratulations.

         10                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         12  Council Member Koppell.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you

         14  Chair.  I'm sorry that I wasn't able to be here for

         15  the beginning of the hearing. Let me first say that

         16  I appreciate your work, Chairman Tierney, and the

         17  work of the Commission generally.  Enormously.

         18  Though I'm not a member of this Committee, so cannot

         19  vote here, I will vote with great pleasure to

         20  confirm your reselection or nomination in the

         21  Council as a whole.

         22                 I'm a resident, as you know, Mr.

         23  Chairman, I think most members know, of the

         24  Fieldston historic district that the Commission just

         25  designated.  And I want to thank you for your
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          2  cooperation in the course of that process.  As you

          3  know, and others know, it was not a process that was

          4  unanimously supported by everybody in the area.  And

          5  I understand that before I got here, a colleague, in

          6  fact, discussed the Fieldston district specifically,

          7  and asked you whether you would support the

          8  landmarking of a historic district that might have

          9  merit from a historical point of view, but was being

         10  proposed for discriminatory or nefarious reasons.

         11  All I want to say  --  and that suggestion was made

         12  in connection, as I understand it, with the

         13  Fieldston district.  I hope I'm not misstating it.

         14  That colleague is here now, but he's not listening.

         15                 So I want to say that very

         16  specifically, as someone who resides in the

         17  district, who has been a supporter of the

         18  landmarking of that district, from before the time

         19  that the Commission took it up.  And has worked with

         20  those who support the landmarking of that district

         21  throughout.  That in my considered and educated

         22  opinion, those who support the creation of the

         23  Fieldston historic district, do so only because they

         24  believe it's a beautiful, historically important,

         25  architecturally important area. And have no
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          2  discriminatory, or negative intent in that support.

          3  And to suggest otherwise is simply, in my opinion,

          4  to distort this issue.  And I think it's very

          5  important for my colleagues to understand that.

          6                 There are people of different

          7  persuasions, of different religious backgrounds, of

          8  different ethnic backgrounds, people who are

          9  orthodox and not orthodox in the Jewish faith, and

         10  people who are religious and not religious in the

         11  Christian faith, and others who are not religious in

         12  any faith.  And there is some division.  There's no

         13  question about it.  But it's not, in my opinion,

         14  legitimately based on any discriminatory reason.

         15  And we should look at it objectively.  And if the

         16  one who asked that question, believes that this is

         17  appropriate, that Fieldston is appropriate to name a

         18  historic district, he shouldn't or she shouldn't,

         19  while in this case, it's a he, no one should be

         20  concerned that they're doing it for nefarious or

         21  discriminatory reasons.  It's being done for

         22  appropriate reasons.  I think it's very important.

         23  It's a very unique community that I know too well.

         24  And I've revealed my conflict of interests, if you

         25  will, and I've gotten opinion that I can, in fact,
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          2  speak on it and vote on it.  So I think it's

          3  appropriate for me to do so.  And I think it is  --

          4  I know the Council doesn't have to take it up, but

          5  it's our practice to take it up.  I think the

          6  Council will take it up.  And I hope very much that

          7  the Council will ratify what the Landmark Commission

          8  has already accomplished.

          9                 And I want to thank you.  You've been

         10  cooperative throughout the process.  I know you've

         11  met not only with those who support the process, but

         12  you met with those who oppose the process of

         13  landmarking or historic district creation.  And

         14  you've spent a great deal of time on it, and you've

         15  been in the community, and your representatives and

         16  staff people have been in the community. And I want

         17  to sense, Chairman, we're  --  those both for and

         18  against landmarking in Fieldston, have been given

         19  the full opportunity to express themselves.  And I

         20  want to thank the Chair for that.

         21                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you Councilman.

         22  Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, I was going

         24  to respond to that, but I'm going to keep moving the

         25  hearing forward.  Council Member Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          3  much Mr. Chair.  And thank you very much for

          4  allowing me to speak as a guest of the Committee,

          5  even though I represent a district in the other

          6  borough of Manhattan.  I also represent probably one

          7  of the most, if not the most landmarked district in

          8  the City.  And I certainly have had more than my

          9  share of interaction with this Commission, and with

         10  this Chair.  And therefore, Mr. Chair, I wanted to

         11  report to you and to my colleagues that that

         12  interaction has been positive and pleasurable.  That

         13  the Commissioner and his Commission, including

         14  Commissioner Ryan, have in my experience, where we

         15  have agreed, where we disagreed, have been

         16  thoughtful, professional, thorough, attentive, and

         17  available.  And I could go on, but suffice it to say

         18  I certainly comment to my colleagues the

         19  reappointment of Commissioner Tierney to lead this

         20  very important Commission, according to the spirit

         21  and economy, the soul of our City.  And the

         22  reappointment of Commissioner Ryan.  And I know I

         23  represent the feelings of constituents throughout my

         24  district who have had interaction with this

         25  Commission.
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          2                 All that being said, I just have one

          3  question.  And I think it's a question which may

          4  define a lot of the work going forward.  And as I

          5  know this Commissioner and this Commission will turn

          6  full due attention to the needs of all of the

          7  boroughs, as we complete NoHo, and the needs of the

          8  other parts of the other borough of Manhattan still

          9  on the agenda.  But where we have parts of the City

         10  which are subject to conversations and discussions

         11  with respect to both landmarking and zoning changes,

         12  or zoning adjustments, what is your philosophy as to

         13  how the two processes should interact?  Should one

         14  proceed totally independent of the other?  Should

         15  one be held totally hostage to the other?  Could

         16  you, without, just kind of give us a view of your

         17  philosophy as to how these two related, but

         18  different, but very important processes should

         19  interact?

         20                 MR. TIERNEY: Sure.  It's not just a

         21  philosophy, but it's how we actually do in fact,

         22  interact on a day- to- day basis. And with Amanda

         23  Bird and the City Planning Commission, the best

         24  example of which is we go in and stand shoulder to

         25  shoulder, whatever the metaphor you want to chose,
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          2  and the best most recent example is in the West

          3  Village rezoning and landmarking.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: For the

          5  record, not in my district.

          6                 MR.TIERNEY: Not in your district, but

          7  it's a good model.  And it's how we proceed, not

          8  only in a historic district, where we're both

          9  proceeding, but anything I do, City Planning is

         10  aware of, and vice versa.  Where there's a potential

         11  spillover. But having said all that, also, we don't

         12  do zoning. And they don't do landmarking.  But we

         13  obviously work very closely together, and very

         14  cooperatively.  And all of our designations go

         15  through the City Planning Commission, as you know,

         16  before they come to the City Council.  And it's just

         17  a very symbiotic, good, cooperative working

         18  relationship.  And that's the way it should be. I

         19  hope it's working that way.  And if it's not, you

         20  should tell us, and we could correct it, where

         21  required.  But that's what I try to do.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is it just

         23  fair to say, in conclusion, that where, for non-

         24  landmarking reasons, a zoning issue is deferred or

         25  delayed, for any number of reasons, that there
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          2  should come a point that rather than hold up

          3  landmarking consideration, that should be determined

          4  on its own merits, on the relevant  --  based on the

          5  relevant factors of the issue?  Is that a fair

          6  statement?

          7                 MR. TIERNEY: In general, if we, as I

          8  said, we have different responsibilities.  The

          9  agencies do.  So that in general, there's nothing

         10  wrong with that, what you've just stated in those

         11  cases.  But it's rare that we get to that point.

         12  It's rare, if ever, that we get to that point.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         14  much.  And Mr. Chair, I reiterate my whole- hearted

         15  recommendation for the reappointment of these two

         16  outstanding public servants.  Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         18  Council Member Inez Dickens.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you Mr.

         20  Chairman.  And also, Commissioner Tierney.  This is

         21  my first hearing.  However, I am very familiar with

         22  landmarks.  And I have a question that relates to my

         23  colleague's raising of the issue about zoning and

         24  landmarking.  Because I have a portion of my

         25  district, the Broadway corridor, which I'm sure
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          2  you're familiar with.  Which we're losing the Metro

          3  Theater.  There's a lot of things going on where

          4  we're raising the issue of changing the zoning

          5  there.  And we need landmarking at the same time, so

          6  that our architecture can be protected.

          7                 My question is, two parts to that.

          8  One is, what is the process  --  we're fighting in

          9  the rezoning part now.  But now, what is  --  which

         10  I recognize you don't have anything to  --  but what

         11  can Landmark do to hold up, to stop development, or

         12  the destruction, I should say, of buildings that

         13  we're asking to be put in a historic district?

         14  That's one.

         15                 The second thing is, we're also

         16  fighting in our district, to keep small store owners

         17  alive.  And are there any recourses  --  I know that

         18  Council Member Brewer raised the issue about

         19  storefront owners in areas where they, economically,

         20  cannot afford to be in compliance.  Are there any

         21  recourses that would help either owners or the

         22  storefront owners to become in compliance?

         23                 And the last thing is, is that there

         24  is an inordinate gap in time where there is a

         25  violation during either renovation or construction,
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          2  and there's an inordinate gap of time once the

          3  violation is cured in getting reinspected.  Can that

          4  be addressed by your staff?  Or would you consider a

          5  panel of volunteers?  So it's a three- part

          6  question.

          7                 MR. TIERNEY: Well, if its a violation

          8    --  you say after a violation has actually been

          9  remedied, my hope is that it would be immediately

         10  communicated so that whatever firmness, or whatever

         11  would flow from that, and I'll find out.  If it's

         12  not the case, why it isn't.  And try to do

         13  everything we can to speed it up.  And make it

         14  simultaneously.  Have it communicated to the

         15  Buildings Department.  Get that lifted.  I had hoped

         16  and thought that it was in an instantaneous way.

         17  But if it isn't, we'll find out why, and try to do

         18  everything we can to stop that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: What is the

         20  usual span of time to reissue the Certificate of

         21  Appropriateness, where there has been a violation?

         22  What is that span of time?  Do you know?

         23                 MR. TIERNEY: I'm looking at my  --

         24  there's a process once you go through the violations

         25  process.  Obviously, the ECV, and adjudication, and
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          2  then  --  but my understanding is that once  --  oh,

          3  I think that I understand the question now.  If it's

          4  a violation that needs to be cured, legalized by the

          5  Commission, then it does require going through a

          6  public hearing process.  And that can take, not in

          7  the length, the longer length of time that are

          8  involved in new designation, but it can take a while

          9  to get on the calendar.  In the worst case, if we

         10  can get  --  I mean, in the best case, excuse me  --

         11  because you have to give public notice and go to the

         12  Community Board, we can do it in the 28- day period.

         13    And hopefully, if that can be truncated, or  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And the other

         15  part was about the recourse for store owners that

         16  economically cannot --

         17                 MR. TIERNEY: That's an issue  --  we

         18  don't regulate use.  The Commission, even  --

         19  you're talking about in a landmark district, we do

         20  regulate what you can do to the storefront, and how

         21  it has to be preserved and maintained.  But we can't

         22    --  we aren't empowered under the law to say what

         23  the use of that storefront can be.  So for instance,

         24  the Second Avenue Deli  --  is that in your

         25  district?  No, I don't believe it is.  But the
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          2  Second Avenue Deli --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  But it served

          4  our district. And we're working to resuscitate it.

          5                 MR. TIERNEY: Okay.  But those are use

          6  issues.  And I look forward to working with you.

          7  And I'd love to talk to you in your office about

          8  ways that we might be able to get involved.  With

          9  the storefronts, to expedite things.  To put our

         10  heads together and try to find a creative way to

         11  help.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         13  much.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  The

         15  Commissioner reminded me, we should consider the

         16  landmarking of a good corned beef sandwich as well

         17  as some of the other menu items.  That would help.

         18  Sorry Mr. Chair.  I couldn't resist.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  Just to

         20  talk about what Council Member Dickens talked about

         21  again.  You know, it's been a pet peeve of mine,

         22  landmarking properties for people that really can't

         23  afford to maintain a building.  Has the Commission

         24  started to come up with either a request for a tax

         25  incentive, or --
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          2                 MR. TIERNEY: Yes we have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Tax

          4  abatement.  And could you describe them?

          5                 MR. TIERNEY: I'm glad you asked that.

          6

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That was my

          8  question.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That was your

         10  question?

         11                 MR. TIERNEY: But tax incentives is

         12  another way to approach that.  And this is also very

         13  subject to the caveat.  I'm not setting tax policy

         14  for the Administration.  And clearly, not for the

         15  Council either.  But there are potential  --  we've

         16  been trying in Albany, in terms of describing what

         17  would be good for the upkeep of landmarked

         18  properties, and try to find a way which residential

         19  property could become eligible and subject to rehab

         20  and repair of preservation, would be eligible for

         21  some level of tax credit, either an income tax

         22  credit, or a property tax abatement. So we're

         23  exploring that.  Every year, we bang our heads

         24  against a wall.  It seems to be  --  there are a lot

         25  of issues related to it.
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          2                 First of all, it goes  --  we haven't

          3  found yet, a way  --  or people who are thinking

          4  more about this than I have  -- haven't been able to

          5  find a way where you could target it to people who

          6  really need the tax benefit, and aren't making the

          7  kinds of repairs you talked about.

          8                 So we're very much interested in

          9  that.  I hope to be able to discuss it with you

         10  maybe during the budget time, or the Albany session,

         11  and try to find a way where we can be  --  where

         12  that helps ameliorate in some way, this problem.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Once you identify

         14  that a person is a distressed landlord, is there a

         15  process to abate or hold off on any fines or

         16  penalties  --

         17                 MR. TIERNEY: No.  Not on the fines or

         18  penalties. Although we try to  --  I take that in a

         19   --  and I think our violations department is not

         20  unmindful of human situations and human dilemmas and

         21  problems.  So where we have the discretion to

         22  refrain from banging that violation on the property,

         23  because people are trying to correct it, and need

         24  maybe a stretch out of time to do it, we talk about

         25  that and we try to make that happen.  So we're
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          2  mindful of that.  But the law itself, is, once you

          3  get into the process, tends to lose some of that

          4  flexibility.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  Council

          6  Member Reyna wants to ask  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Mr. Chair.  I'm

          8  not too sure if this is going to be a practical

          9  question.  But I'm curious. Because I think it's

         10  something that hasn't been raised.

         11                 What is the implication of a

         12  landmarking in relation to affordable housing?

         13                 MR. TIERNEY: There's no necessary

         14  connection or relationship.  I don't  --  I think

         15  there are two or three questions on the top of my

         16  mind about it.  First of all, a lot of affordable

         17  housing is designated landmark property.

         18  Williamsburg Houses occur to me right off the bat.

         19  And just one particular designation that I was very

         20  proud, early on as Chairman, to be able to vote for

         21  and to push through.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Can we ask the

         23  Sergeant- at Arms to just fix the curtains and block

         24  the sun?

         25                 MR. TIERNEY: That's a great example
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          2  to show that they're not  --  they can go hand in

          3  hand, they're not at all inconsistent landmarking.

          4  But the next issue, I guess would be does

          5  landmarking bring with it additional costs that

          6  might strap, or make it a less likely, or more

          7  difficult, I should say, to be able to incorporate

          8  affordable housing, because of additional restraints

          9  and restrictions of landmarking would put on a

         10  property.

         11                 There too, I think not, and I hope

         12  not, because that's not what we want to do, is drive

         13  people to make it economically inviable.  We think

         14  there's a lot of economic viability to landmarking

         15  in terms of the value of increase of private homes

         16  in historic districts that the independent budget

         17  office has done three or four studies in Brooklyn,

         18  that show that there's a greater increase in

         19  property values in historic districts than not.

         20  It's a very careful study.  It doesn't overstate it.

         21    It does a very scientific comparison, and it's

         22  very cautious and conservative.  So it shows that.

         23                 In the short run, do you have to do a

         24  little more to keep, perhaps, to keep things in a

         25  state of first- class repair, or good repair for a
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          2  landmark property?  Maybe.  But that shouldn't be

          3  incompatible or inconsistent with affordable

          4  housing.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Can I just

          6  refer to the  -- and I appreciate your answer, and I

          7  too, was proud of Williamsburg Houses.  And

          8  Williamsburg Houses falls into a special category.

          9  So we just want to make sure that it refers to that

         10  special category. Being New York City Housing

         11  Authority, government being the landlord.

         12                 So that, I want to refer the same

         13  question to the realtor, Ms. Ryan.  If you can just

         14  share with us, in the world of real estate, do you

         15  believe in your experience, that you have a consumer

         16  who is out there purchasing, does take into

         17  consideration the added cost.  Because obviously,

         18  there's an equation that if something is landmarked,

         19  there are provisions that they have to go by, in

         20  order to rehabilitate the property, and maintain it

         21  at a certain level.  Therefore, raising the price of

         22  the actual property, the value of the land.

         23  Therefore contributing to a market that perhaps,

         24  essentially, was not there before the landmarking.

         25  And so, adjacent properties are going to be affected
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          2  by that.

          3                 MS. RYAN: Is your question, do people

          4  turn away from purchasing properties because they

          5  have landmark designation?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: The same

          7  question I posed to Mr. Tierney, which was, do you

          8  see a direct correlation with landmarking a specific

          9  area or property with, in relation to affordable

         10  housing?  Positive or negative.

         11                 MS. RYAN: I can't say that I have

         12  seen that relationship.  And again, I'm sorry.  But

         13  I'm not exactly clear what it is you're asking.

         14  Whether landmarking makes it harder for the City to

         15  provide enough affordable housing?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Well, the City

         17  is not in a position to provide affordable housing

         18  for everyone.  There's a market out there.  And

         19  obviously, it's driven by who can pay the highest

         20  price, and who cannot.  And essentially,

         21  landmarking, in my view, as a lay person, who is not

         22  as wise in the landmarking world, would think that

         23  if I have a landmark building and/or historic area,

         24  that that drives up a market in a neighborhood where

         25  perhaps, already displacement has been occurring and
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          2  where we see the potential for further exacerbation

          3  of that displacement deteriorating the opportunities

          4  of affordable housing.

          5                 MS. RYAN: Well, I have seen the same

          6  studies that show some correlation between increased

          7  property values and landmarking.  So I think that is

          8  something that needs to be taken into consideration

          9  in making that decision.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Have you taken

         11  into consideration?  In the last three years that

         12  you have served on the Commission, has that been a

         13  point of reference that you've given thought to?

         14                 MS. RYAN: The possibility for

         15  displacement as a result of landmarking?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: The affordable

         17  housing preservation in relation to landmarking.

         18                 MS. RYAN: I think that we're limited

         19  to considering on the merits of individual

         20  properties and districts.  And that the economic

         21  considerations cannot be the important decision-

         22  making criteria according to the landmarking law.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So you just

         24  said yes that should be a consideration.  So what

         25  would you consider?
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          2                 MS. RYAN: Whatever the law says we

          3  need to consider in determining landmark districts

          4  and individual designation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So  --  and I

          6  know that other members have raised the question as

          7  far as making sure that on the merits  --  for

          8  instance, Council Member Katz had just referred to

          9  Mr. Tierney, the understanding on the record that a

         10  note from a Council Member opposing or in favor of,

         11  does not solely contribute to a decision that the

         12  Landmarks Commission would essentially make. And

         13  that there are  --  you have a responsibility to

         14  under certain requirements, to look at a piece of

         15  property and/or area.  To go by.  If we're talking

         16  about process.  Does that process take into

         17  consideration the dynamics of the market?  I'm

         18  assuming that's why there's a position there, for a

         19  realtor.  Why is there a need for a realtor to be on

         20  the Commission?  Let me understand that piece.

         21                 MR. TIERNEY: It's in the statute.

         22  And it's been there  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Why?

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: I think to   --

         25  probably  --  my guess would be, without seeing the
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          2  legislative history, it's been there since the

          3  creation of the Commission, 1965.  My sense is that

          4  it was felt that since the Landmarks Commission

          5  deals on a day- to- day basis with issue of private

          6  property real estate, and so on, that --  and we are

          7  opposing  --  the powers that this Commission has

          8  are quite significant.  And I take that  --  that's

          9  why I take this so carefully, so seriously.  Is that

         10  they restrict in some significant way, the ability

         11  of someone, a land owner, or a property owner, a

         12  homeowner, as to what that person can do with his or

         13  her house.  So I think in a commercial setting, what

         14  a --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: You're

         16  referring to enforcement, rather than the position

         17  of a realtor being on the Commission.

         18                 MR. TIERNEY: No.  But even on

         19  designation, when you --  a realtor, I think,

         20  theoretically, it was probably felt to bring to bear

         21  the perspective of the real estate  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Clearly.

         23  Exactly.  And so, --

         24                 MR. TIERNEY: But it's one of 11

         25  votes.  And, nor does the fact the Commissioner
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          2  Ryan, not to speak for her, but she doesn't  --

          3  she's not voting at all, the so- called, whatever

          4  the real estate point of view might be.  She's an

          5  independent commissioner.  Who is following the

          6  statute.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: We've been

          8  joined by our Speaker, so I will --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: At this time,

         10  we'll hear from Speaker Christine Quinn.

         11                 SPEAKER QUINN: Hello.  We are going

         12  to just procedurally vote on these two appointments.

         13    We really want to start fresh, start on time, not

         14  run late, be ready.  So we're going to recess for a

         15  half an hour.  Reconvene in Rules, and have a

         16  finalized paperwork from the Committees.  Then go

         17  immediately into the Chambers to have the full

         18  Committee.

         19                 What did you say?  Really?  We

         20  interrupted your question?  Well, why don't you

         21  finish it, and then I'll go.  No, no, no.  And I

         22  defer to Diana.  Thank you Council Member Felder for

         23  keeping us focused on protocol.  Thanks.

         24                 Diana, go ahead.  But nonetheless,

         25  that's still applies.  The time.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Did you vote

          3  while you're here?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you Madam

          5  Speaker.

          6                 I'm sorry Mr. Tierney.  I just wanted

          7  to be clear. You said the Commissioner, Commissioner

          8  Ryan, has a vote on the Commission, but she does not

          9  wear her hat as real estate on the Commission.  I'm

         10  feeling like I  --  there's a double- edged sword

         11  there.  So why have the position of real estate be

         12  the category that you're filling, rather than just

         13  appointing a commissioner to deal with landmarks?

         14                 MR. TIERNEY: We have to follow the

         15  law.  And if that law were changed, and it didn't

         16  have that requirement, then we could do what you're

         17  saying.  But the statute requires that  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So the statute

         19  says, reads as one member of the Commission with a

         20  real estate license, but it does not go into

         21  mentioning why.

         22                 MR. TIERNEY: No.  That's right.  One

         23  can guess.  And also one can guess why three

         24  architects are required, and so on.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: That's  --  you

                                                            127

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  shed so much light onto that.  I appreciate your

          3  comments.  And I will just double check, for my own

          4  reference, that specific law to read so that I can

          5  confirm that what you're saying is solely true.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  At this

          9  time, we're going to move to a vote.  Ms. Ryan, and

         10  Mr. Tierney.  I was going to make a short statement.

         11                 But at this time, we'll move to a

         12  vote, but Speaker Quinn wanted to make a statement

         13  on Mr. Tierney and Ms. Ryan.

         14                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you.  I just

         15  want to say, though I haven't worked closely with

         16  you, Ms. Ryan, I've worked very closely with

         17  Commissioner Tierney.  And I know that this hearing

         18  has been lengthy and heated discussion about the

         19  Commission, and about Commissioner Tierney's

         20  leadership.  And although I think clearly, we could

         21  be doing a better job of having more diverse

         22  districts and more diverse individual landmarks, and

         23  I know Chairperson Tierney would agree with that.

         24  And I know he is committed to moving towards even

         25  great borough diversity, and diversity as it relates
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          2  to communities of color.

          3                 That said, I think Commissioner

          4  Tierney has done tremendous work moving the

          5  Commission forward, towards fully embracing the goal

          6  of diversity, as it relates to landmarks.  He is

          7  someone who I know personally to be incredibly

          8  accessible to work closely with me and my community

          9  to disagree agreeably, when that has been the case,

         10  and to spend more hours than he spent in this room

         11  at Community Board meetings and at public meetings.

         12                 So although we may not be where we

         13  want to be, he is someone who has led us forward

         14  significantly from where LPC was after eight years

         15  of Mayor Giuliani.  And I hope we'll have the

         16  opportunity to move us even further forward as it

         17  relates to diversity and effectiveness and

         18  transparency in the Commission.

         19                 I know, if we give him the

         20  opportunity to continue, we will be happy with the

         21  results.

         22                 MR. TIERNEY: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I just want to

         24  apologize to Ms. Linda Eskanas.  Is she still here?

         25  Yes, and I know who you are. I'm sorry.  You
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          2  submitted testimony, and they forgot to give me your

          3  slip.  I know you had wanted to testify, but if you

          4  don't mind, we will move ahead with a vote.  So this

          5  has been, for my last meeting as Rules Chair, this

          6  is probably been my longest meeting.  As Rules

          7  Chair, I think we've only had one other Rules

          8  meeting that went as long, but I think that it's

          9  been quite an interesting hearing, and I think we've

         10  all learned a lot today.

         11                 I will still be on the Landmarks

         12  Subcommittee.  Mr. Tierney, I think that you have

         13  been a person of dignified and focused in your

         14  responses, and your personality has been beyond

         15  reproach.  I think that Council Member Felder said

         16  it right, that in the landmarking, no one is happy,

         17  and everyone is upset at particular times.  And you

         18  heard from the testimony today, that even if people

         19  that  --  a lot of people that support you are not

         20  happy, and the people that don't support you are

         21  happy about particular issues.  So landmarking of a

         22  City of this type is an interesting phenomenon.  I

         23  think one that we, in the Council, need to support

         24  you more with getting you the resources, getting you

         25  the opportunity to get more resources or linkages so
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          2  that you can keep up with all of the desires of all

          3  of the people that are interested in getting

          4  landmarks, especially in the better borough.  There

          5  are four other boroughs than Manhattan.  Outside of

          6   --  that's just my personal thing, sorry.  Because

          7  they keep saying "outer boroughs". I'd rather say

          8   "better boroughs".  And that's my own personal

          9  evaluation.

         10                 But clearly, the need to preserve

         11  history versus the need to protect individuals that

         12  may be hurt by a landmarking, is a discussion that

         13  will always be constant.  And I think under your

         14  leadership, it will always be fair, and given the

         15  opportunity for a full hearing.

         16                 So with that, I want to recommend a

         17   "yes" vote, understanding that there are still

         18  issues that we will be constantly looking at to deal

         19  with all of the issues around landmarking.  But

         20  clearly, your leadership has been fair, honest, and

         21  above board.  So with that I'd like the Clerk to

         22  call the roll.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Comrie.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on both.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye on both.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes to both.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Baez.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye on both.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: De Blasio.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DE BLASIO: Aye on

          9  both.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chair, may

         12  I be briefly excused to explain my vote?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you.  I

         15  intend to vote aye on both of these nominees, if for

         16  no other reason that under Speaker Quinn, I don't

         17  think it would be a good idea to vote against the

         18  Irish folks that have come before us.  I just wanted

         19  to say, to make this comment, which is that first,

         20  there is a life in the outer boroughs, excuse me,

         21  the better boroughs, beyond the well- deserving

         22  brownstone and Victorian communities as well.  I

         23  would certainly commend both of you to take a good

         24  hard look at neighborhoods like Canarsie, old

         25  Canarsie.  I know we've recommended the Canarsie

                                                            132

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  Firehouse to you at one point as a landmark.  And I

          3  believe you rejected the idea out- of- hand.

          4                 In addition, Mr. Tierney, I think I

          5  recall at your last Rules Committee appearance,  we

          6  discussed the issue of the Commission being more

          7  proactive about the Dutch farmhouses throughout

          8  Brooklyn, and trying to find a way to link them.  I

          9  know the Peter Classen- Wyckoff House was the very

         10  first landmark designated in the City of New York.

         11  I have a particular affinity for it.

         12                 And while I recognize the constraints

         13  that the Landmarks Commission has in terms of

         14  staffing and what not, being proactive about some of

         15  these things, I think, would be in your benefit and

         16  to the benefit of the City of New York.  I would

         17  hope that you would take another look at developing

         18  a proactive agenda for things like the Dutch

         19  farmhouses in Brooklyn.

         20                 And having said that, I vote aye on

         21  both.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Katz

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: To explain my

         24  vote?  I also intend on voting aye today.  But just

         25  a comment, Mr. Chairman. Which is, A, Commissioner
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          2  Tierney, we've heard a lot of testimony today about

          3  the other boroughs as I like to call them, besides

          4  Manhattan.  And I think that one thing that's clear

          5  today.  It just seems that the communication between

          6  your agency and the Council, and sometimes the

          7  communities seems to be, to me at least, what's

          8  lacking.  And I think what happens when that

          9  happens, is that there's a vacuum of information and

         10  people start wondering, well, how is it chosen?  How

         11  is it done?  You're doing a survey of Staten Island.

         12    Well, what about Queens?  What about  --  and I'm

         13  not saying you shouldn't be doing that.  I'm just

         14  saying, we don't really know how this stuff happens.

         15    And I think that that's a true problem.

         16                 There are standards and criteria by

         17  which something should be landmarked, but it's the

         18  process that there's always questions about.

         19                 So, having said that, as Chair of the

         20  Land Use Committee, I know we're going to work

         21  together a lot for the next four years.  And I would

         22  just suggest that whatever system we're using now is

         23  not truly working with communication.  And maybe

         24  that's how we might want to spend some time in the

         25  next month or two is to figure out how we could do
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          2  that.

          3                 I understand there's a balance

          4  between what a Council Member wants for their

          5  district, what a community wants, but there has to

          6  be some sort of answer on how that process

          7  continues.

          8                 So I look forward to working with you

          9  for the next few years, and I vote aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you Mr.

         12  Chairman, and Madam Speaker.  I'm just concerned,

         13  there's all this talk about other boroughs.  I

         14  thought there was only one borough in New York, and

         15  that  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Queens.  Queens.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Just briefly,

         18  to explain my vote.  I think it's clear from this

         19  hearing, that we are all very passionate about

         20  landmarks and the landmarking process.  And we all

         21  believe that there is great room for improvement.

         22  But that is clearly going to take a commitment on

         23  everyone's part.  The Council in providing the

         24  resources and fine- tuning that wonderful Demolition

         25  Delay Bill, and maybe getting it passed so it can
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          2  help in the process.  And from the Commission in

          3  being more proactive in undertaking a more serious,

          4  a more thorough surveying process throughout the

          5  City.

          6                 But having said that, I think that

          7  we're very fortunate to have a partner like you, Mr.

          8  Tierney, at the helm of the Landmarks Commission,

          9  and with the help of Ms. Ryan, I'm sure that we will

         10  lead the Commission into its best days yet.

         11                 So I very proudly vote aye on both.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye on both.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dickens.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Aye on both.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Garodnick.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Aye on

         18  both.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: May I be excused

         21  to explain my vote?

         22                 I would just like to say to the

         23  advocates who testified today, who voiced some

         24  displeasure with the individual candidates and the

         25  institution, that I appreciate the time and I
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          2  appreciate the frustration.  I don't know if there's

          3  another member of this body who appreciates being

          4  frustrated with a City agency more than I do.  And

          5  am not particularly to this agency, in this

          6  instance.  And I say to you that yes, you should be

          7  coming to our door to help find the resources for

          8  this agency.  I'm not one of these people who

          9  believes that you solve problems by throwing money

         10  at it, but I do believe this agency and City

         11  Planning, do need more resources to do the job

         12  better.

         13                 I just point out that as Council

         14  Member Avella indicated, this Council, in the last

         15  few years, has allocated nearly three- quarters of a

         16  million dollars to City Planning.  And that's a good

         17  thing.  But that money is not baselined.  Which

         18  affects how they hire and who they hire, and how

         19  much help that money actually provides.  There's

         20  only one side of City Hall that can baseline a

         21  budget, and you can't really run an agency not

         22  knowing, year to year, what your budget is.  Not

         23  knowing, while I have the $300,000 this year, I may

         24  not have it next year.  There's only one side of

         25  City Hall that can baseline that money, and give
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          2  this Commissioner and this Chairman the confidence

          3  that he and she have the money to do the job.  And

          4  that comes from the Administration.

          5                 We will do all we can, Mr. Chairman,

          6  to get you more money.  It can't hurt, behind the

          7  scenes and not publicly, for you to let it be known

          8  that you need more resources.

          9                 And the advocates have to be our

         10  partners in this fight to get this agency more

         11  money.  With that said, I vote aye on both.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Speaker Quinn

         13                 SPEAKER QUINN: First, I just want to

         14  thank Chairperson Comrie for the great job he's done

         15  as Chairman of the Rules Committee for four years,

         16  and for pinch- hitting today, and it may have been

         17  his longest at bat.  But I think an important one,

         18  which shows how committed this Council, this

         19  Commission is and the City is, to landmarking.  And

         20  I very excitedly and proudly vote aye on both of

         21  your reappointments.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 13 in the

         23  affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         24  abstentions, both items are adopted.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.  And
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          2  we will be recessing for about a half hour.  But

          3  before we move, I just, and because when I know when

          4  you come back, you're going to be focused on another

          5  matter, I must thank the great Committee.  I want to

          6  thank Speaker Miller for giving me the opportunity

          7  to Chair this Committee for the past four years.

          8  But without our great legal counsel, Ed O'Malley,

          9  Charles Davis, Christo Costen, and I think Steward

         10  Goldstein deserves a round of applause for

         11  everything that they've done, putting up with me for

         12  the past four years as Committee Chair.  And I want

         13  to thank my fellow Committee Members.

         14                 We're going to recess.  Mr. Tierney,

         15  Ms. Ryan, you are duly voted.  You don't have to

         16  worry about the larger meeting. Thank you for being

         17  here all day, practically.

         18                 MR. TIERNEY: It's a pleasure.  Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: A pleasure

         21  working with you.

         22                 Members, please turn in your red

         23  confidential booklets back to the staff.  Don't

         24  forget to turn in your red booklets back to the

         25  staff.
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          2                 A thirty minute recess was held.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good afternoon

          4  everyone.  I'd like to reconvene the Rules,

          5  Privileges, and Elections Committee. I am Council

          6  Member Leroy Comrie.  We have with us Council Member

          7  Melissa Mark- Viverito; Miguel Martinez; Bill

          8  DeBlasio; Michael McMahon; Joel Rivera; Maria Baez;

          9  Lew Fidler; Diana Reyna; Dan Garodnick; Minority

         10  Leader Jimmy Oddo; David Weprin; and I'm sure we'll

         11  be joined by more members in a minute.  But we have

         12  enough members to start the meeting.

         13                 Again, I would just like to take the

         14  opportunity to thank the Rules, Privileges, and

         15  Elections staff for the last four years of diligent

         16  service to me.  Giving me the great opportunity to

         17  Chair this Committee.  Former Speaker Gifford

         18  Miller.  I'd like to thank him.  And I'd like to

         19  thank new Speaker Christine Quinn, for allowing me

         20  to continue in a leadership role in the Council, and

         21  to Chair a new committee as I move on to new

         22  opportunities to serve the City.

         23                 Before we  --  there are two things

         24  that we need to talk about in the Committee today.

         25  And the first is resolution which will make certain
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          2  amendments to Rule Seven of the Rules of the

          3  Council, in relation to creating new Standing

          4  Committees.  This would amend Rule 7- A by adding

          5  three new Standing Committees together with their

          6  jurisdictional description.

          7                 The new Standing Committees are:

          8  Civil Rights, Juvenile Justice, and Lower Manhattan.

          9    The jurisdiction description for each committee is

         10  contained within the body of the resolution.  And as

         11  you know, since this is a brand new Council, all of

         12  the committees are reconstituted and all of the

         13  committees that, just for public information, that

         14  were convened in the last four years have been

         15  reconstituted.  No committees have been dropped.

         16  Again, these three committees are now full Standing

         17  Committees.

         18                 And also, the next item that we'll be

         19  dealing with is the recommendation of favorable

         20  consideration by the Council of the election of

         21  Chairpersons and the members of the various

         22  committees on the Council.  I will not read all

         23  those committees. As I said, they are all the

         24  committees that were in place in the last term, with

         25  the three additional committees being now made full
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          2  committees.  And in addition, the salary for the

          3  Council Members serving as Committee Chairpersons,

          4  all other officers of the Council, pursuant to

          5  Section 26- 3 of the Charter of the City of New

          6  York, as specified below.

          7                 I'm not going to read all of the

          8  items on there. I'm going to give everybody two

          9  minutes to peruse the items that have been handed to

         10  you. It's only being handed to the Council Members

         11  as they sit down in their chair, not staff.  Or not

         12  anybody else at the moment.  And we'll take a couple

         13  of minutes to look over this while the Speaker's

         14  Office, ask the Speaker to come up to vote on these

         15  particular items.

         16                 Again, while we are waiting, I will

         17  announce the new Chair of the Rules, Privileges, and

         18  Elections Committee.  And that' the young lady

         19  sitting to my left, Council Member Diana Reyna.  And

         20  I just want to let her know that she is getting an

         21  excellent staff. Stewart Goldstein is one of the

         22  most diligent and tenacious members of that City

         23  Council, ensuring that whoever comes before this

         24  Committee does everything by the book.  And I just

         25  want to thank him for his counsel over the past four
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          2  years.  Christo Costen, who I continually

          3  mispronounce her name every other minute, is also

          4  very good.  And Charles Davis, he went downstairs,

          5  is also excellent.  And Ed O'Malley is consistently

          6  even tempered and focused on getting a job done.

          7            While I'm filibustering here.  And seeing

          8  that there are no questions or comments from the

          9  members on this, then we can just wait for the

         10  Speaker to come up and do the vote.  Thank you all

         11  very much for not having any questions or comments.

         12                 Also to David, if we could do the

         13  stated meeting as quickly as possible, and we can

         14  move forward with the rest of our day.

         15                 Now we are joined by Speaker Quinn.

         16  So, Speaker Quinn, do you have any comments?  We've

         17  made the presentation.  All right.  With that, I'd

         18  like to call the roll.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: M-Nine.  Council

         20  Member Comrie.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on all.

         22                 It's M-Nine and Resolution Three.

         23  I'm sorry, I was not distinct on the resolution.

         24  The resolution again, is to create the three

         25  Standing Committees; Civil Rights, Juvenile Justice,
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          2  and Lower Manhattan to full committees.  Resolution

          3  Three, which is the eight by eleven, and M- 9, which

          4  is the eight by seventeen.

          5                 And aye on both.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

          8  much.  I think that if I can actually make a brief

          9  statement.  I think that under your leadership,

         10  Leroy, we did extremely well with the Rules

         11  Committee.  And I think that we're going to do

         12  extremely well with our new Chairperson, Diana

         13  Reyna.  And I'm not a lawyer, but I do believe the

         14  scales of justice are balanced by a woman and I'm

         15  very proud that we have you as our new Chairperson.

         16  That being said, I think we're going to do very

         17  well, with you, Leroy, in your new post.  So

         18  congratulations to the two of you.  And

         19  congratulations to all the members here.  We have

         20  four more years to govern, and with this leadership,

         21  and under the leadership of Christine Quinn, we're

         22  going to do a very good job for the City of New

         23  York.  Thank you.

         24                 I vote aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

                                                            144

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I just want to

          3  take a moment to thank our Speaker, Madam Speaker,

          4  Christine Quinn, for her leadership, and her

          5  appointment and trust in me as Chair of the Rules

          6  Committee.  And to my colleagues, it's a privilege

          7  to be able to have a full Standing Committee.  And I

          8  do honor and appreciate the post.

          9                 I vote aye.  And congratulations to

         10  my colleagues. Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Baez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye on all.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Fidler,

         17  may I be briefly excused to explain my vote?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I also want to

         20  thank Speaker Quinn, and the staff for the work

         21  they've done here.  I mean, in the difficult process

         22  of balancing all the concerns that we have,

         23  ethnically, gender wise, et cetera, the one thing

         24  that was very, very clear four years ago, was that

         25  Brooklyn was barely in the house.  And one of the
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          2  considerations that is obviously clear in this

          3  alignment of committee chairs and leadership for the

          4  Council is that Brooklyn is very much in the house

          5                 Four years ago, we came into the

          6  process with five Standing Committee Chairmanships.

          7  Out of Brooklyn, 16 members. This time, we have 12.

          8  And I think that is something that we in Brooklyn

          9  can be extraordinarily proud of, and thankful to the

         10  Speaker.  And I think it's reflective of the

         11  maturation political leadership in Brooklyn.  We

         12  will have two people on the Leadership Committee;

         13  three on Steering, when we had none four years ago.

         14  And so, that part of the balancing process should

         15  never be overlooked. I think that those of us from

         16  Brooklyn can be extremely proud of that, and

         17  thankful to the Speaker for it.

         18                 And I'm very proud to vote aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Katz.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I vote aye.  And

         21  I implore all 25 members of the Land Use Committee

         22  to come on a timely basis every single week.  I vote

         23  aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: I vote aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dickens.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Aye.  I would

          6  just like to make a statement for a minute.  Please

          7  Mr. Chair.  And I commend you for the short time

          8  that your leadership was for me, on the Rules

          9  Committee.  But I also am very happy to see that of

         10  the caucus, the Black/Latino and Asian caucus that

         11  heretofore, we had no persons of color that were

         12  Chairing the main committees.  The eight main

         13  committees, and now there are three.  So I want to

         14  commend Madam Speaker for that in taking the

         15  leadership.  Thank you so much, and yes.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Garodnick.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Mr.

         18  Chairman, a moment to explain my vote.

         19                 First of all, I'd like to

         20  congratulate the Speaker and her staff for putting

         21  together what was obviously a very complicated

         22  puzzle.  And also to recognize the outgoing Chair of

         23  this Committee, Council Member Comrie.  And also to

         24  welcome in our new Chair, Council Member Reyna.  In

         25  light of the fact that we are in the process of
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          2  adding three Standing Committees today, I just

          3  wanted to note, as a member of the Rules Committee,

          4  that I'm going to encourage this group to consider

          5  rules reforms, including a review of the Committee

          6  structure and their jurisdictions as well as all

          7  other reforms that might make the Council a more, a

          8  better functioning body.  And recognizing that today

          9  is obviously not the day to do that in a

         10  deliberative manner, and also with a need for an

         11  overall review of Council rules, I vote yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Speaking of

         14  jurisdiction of committees, Mr. Chairman, what

         15  Standing Committee has jurisdiction over the

         16  Department of Buildings?  That's the Housing and

         17  Buildings Committee?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, it does.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Am I a member of

         20  that?  Oh, I am a member of that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, you are.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

         23  Leroy, you're a class act, and you're a gentleman.

         24  And I, as a member of this Committee for the last

         25  four years, have appreciated  --  it's not a
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          2  glamorous committee, but it's an important

          3  committee, and you've done a great job.  And more

          4  importantly, as good of a Chair you are, that's as

          5  good of a person you are.  And it's been a pleasure

          6  working with you.

          7                 I vote aye on all.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Speaker Quinn

         10                 SPEAKER QUINN: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 13 in the

         12  affirmative, zero in the negative, no abstentions,

         13  both items are adopted. Council Members please sign

         14  the Committee Reports.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Please stay to

         16  sign the Committee Reports.

         17                 I just want to say that I want to

         18  thank Speaker Quinn for allowing me to actually move

         19  up in a leadership position. I really appreciate her

         20  faith in me.  And also to now move on to Chair the

         21  Consumer Affairs Committee.  And I want to just say

         22  that I look forward to an active and proactive

         23  Council, that's going to work quite extensively to

         24  make sure that the needs of all New Yorkers are

         25  protected.
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          2                 And I think that  --  I know she's

          3  worked diligently in the last two weeks to meet with

          4  people and then try and figure this puzzle out.  And

          5  I pledge to you to help make this puzzle work.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 And with that, please sign the

          8  Committee Reports, and we'll move straight to the

          9  stated meeting.

         10                 The meeting is adjourned.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 3:35 p.m.)
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